






Accept the May 2021 Financial Report. 

The annual revenues are currently at $1,313,596 of the budgeted $1,079,708 which is 
approximately 121.6% of anticipated revenues with 30% of the fiscal year still ahead. This is 
largely due to the $224,000 in excess revenues, over budget, from building permits. 
 
The annual expenditures are currently at $568,790 of the budgeted $937,451 which is 
approximately 60.1% of the budgeted expenditures with approximately 75% of the year already 
completed. We anticipate that these numbers will increase substantially in the upcoming months 
as we receive invoices for work contracted but not yet completed.  
 

Ben Nibarger, City Administrator 
 

Ben Nibarger, City Administrator 
Accept the financial report 
 

 
June 2021 Financial Report 



7/15/2021 Page 1 of 18GENERAL FUND
3:05 PM Statement of Revenue and Expenditures

4201 Sales/ Beverage Tax 130,000.00 0.00 125,258.06 4,741.94 96.35%
Total Sales Tax $130,000.00 $0.00 $125,258.06 $4,741.94

Sales Tax

4103 Penalties 1,430.00 0.00 1,430.00 0.00%
4102 Delinquent Property Tax 9,535.00 0.00 9,535.00 0.00%
4101 Current Property Tax 476,743.00 0.00 466,357.40 10,385.60 97.82%

Total Property Tax $487,708.00 $0.00 $466,357.40 $21,350.60

Property Tax

4402 Septic Permits 0.00 16,720.00 (16,720.00) 0.00%
4403 Contractor Registration 0.00 1,152.00 (1,152.00) 0.00%
4401 Construction Permits 350,000.00 0.00 574,248.82 (224,248.82) 164.07%

Total Permits $350,000.00 $0.00 $592,120.82 ($242,120.82)

Permits

4901 Other Revenue 50,000.00 0.00 10,711.00 39,289.00 21.42%
4905 Grant Revenue 0.00 62,623.16 (62,623.16) 0.00%

Total Other Revenue $50,000.00 $0.00 $73,334.16 ($23,334.16)

Other Revenue

4301 Franchise Fees 47,000.00 0.00 49,021.44 (2,021.44) 104.30%
Total Franchise Fees $47,000.00 $0.00 $49,021.44 ($2,021.44)

Franchise Fees

4501 Court Fines 15,000.00 0.00 7,504.67 7,495.33 50.03%
Total Fines & Fees $15,000.00 $0.00 $7,504.67 $7,495.33

Fines & Fees

Revenues Totals $1,079,708.00 $0.00 $1,313,596.55 ($233,888.55)

Revenues
Revenue

Revenue & Expenditures

Annual Budget
Oct 2020
Sep 2021

Current Period
Jun 2021
Jun 2021

Actual

Year-To-Date
Oct 2020
Jun 2021

Actual

Annual Budget
Oct 2020
Sep 2021
Variance

Oct 2020
Sep 2021

Percent of
Budget



7/15/2021 Page 2 of 18GENERAL FUND
3:05 PM Statement of Revenue and Expenditures

4901 Other Revenue 0.00 32.46 (32.46) 0.00%
Total Other Revenue $0.00 $32.46 ($32.46)

Other Revenue

Unallocated Totals $0.00 $32.46 ($32.46)

Unallocated

Annual Budget
Oct 2020
Sep 2021

Current Period
Jun 2021
Jun 2021

Actual

Year-To-Date
Oct 2020
Jun 2021

Actual

Annual Budget
Oct 2020
Sep 2021
Variance

Oct 2020
Sep 2021

Percent of
Budget



7/15/2021 Page 3 of 18GENERAL FUND
3:05 PM Statement of Revenue and Expenditures

5322 Training/ Dues/ Memberships 5,500.00 0.00 1,703.96 3,796.04 30.98%
5380 TML Insurance 5,500.00 0.00 7,731.50 (2,231.50) 140.57%
5310 Software 28,500.00 150.00 14,980.45 13,519.55 52.56%
5306 Recording 0.00 117.00 (117.00) 0.00%
5360 Prop Tax Collection Fees 2,850.46 11,118.01 (11,118.01) 0.00%
5350 Professional Services 25,000.00 0.00 7,250.00 17,750.00 29.00%
5370 Election Expense 3,000.00 0.00 850.00 2,150.00 28.33%
5361 Credit Card Fees 0.00 1,029.29 (1,029.29) 0.00%
5390 Cleanup Days 0.00 3.79 (3.79) 0.00%
5340 Auditor 14,000.00 0.00 15,000.00 (1,000.00) 107.14%

Total Services $81,500.00 $3,000.46 $59,784.00 $21,716.00

Services

5008 Worker's Comp 300.00 0.00 288.32 11.68 96.11%
5005 TMRS 10,307.00 579.08 13,654.40 (3,347.40) 132.48%
5001 Salaries 93,600.00 5,919.93 76,693.28 16,906.72 81.94%
5009 Mileage 3,600.00 216.16 216.16 3,383.84 6.00%
5012 LTD, STD and Life 951.00 0.00 951.00 0.00%
5004 Longevity Pay 100.00 0.00 126.12 (26.12) 126.12%
5006 Health Insurance 8,865.00 200.64 4,138.80 4,726.20 46.69%
5007 FICA - Payroll Taxes 7,168.00 0.00 7,168.00 0.00%
5011 Deferred Compensation 6,000.00 0.00 6,000.00 0.00%

Total Salaries & Payroll $130,891.00 $6,915.81 $95,117.08 $35,773.92

Salaries & Payroll

5901 Miscellaneous Expense 31.96 31.96 (31.96) 0.00%
Total Other Expense $31.96 $31.96 ($31.96)

Other Expense

5108 Legal Expenses 50,000.00 8,232.97 32,142.79 17,857.21 64.29%
5111 Information Technology 5,000.00 0.00 5,414.60 (414.60) 108.29%
5101 Contract Labor 3,000.00 1,568.72 6,628.54 (3,628.54) 220.95%
5110 City Planner 10,000.00 0.00 688.50 9,311.50 6.89%
5109 City Engineer 5,000.00 0.00 5,000.00 0.00%

Total Contract Labor $73,000.00 $9,801.69 $44,874.43 $28,125.57

Contract Labor
City Administration

Expenses
Gross Profit $1,079,708.00 $0.00 $1,313,629.01

Revenue $1,079,708.00 $0.00 $1,313,629.01 ($233,921.01)

Annual Budget
Oct 2020
Sep 2021

Current Period
Jun 2021
Jun 2021

Actual

Year-To-Date
Oct 2020
Jun 2021

Actual

Annual Budget
Oct 2020
Sep 2021
Variance

Oct 2020
Sep 2021

Percent of
Budget



7/15/2021 Page 4 of 18GENERAL FUND
3:05 PM Statement of Revenue and Expenditures

5502 Internet/Telephone 2,000.00 787.52 6,324.31 (4,324.31) 316.22%
5501 Electric / Trash 1,400.00 0.00 989.87 410.13 70.71%

Total Utilities Expense $3,400.00 $787.52 $7,314.18 ($3,914.18)

Utilities Expense

5207 Postage 200.00 0.00 4.80 195.20 2.40%
5201 Office Supplies 2,500.00 0.00 2,685.09 (185.09) 107.40%
5299 Miscellaneous Supplies 500.00 0.00 500.00 0.00%
5202 Equipment 1,000.00 0.00 165.10 834.90 16.51%

Total Supplies $4,200.00 $0.00 $2,854.99 $1,345.01

Supplies

City Administration Totals $292,991.00 $20,537.44 $209,976.64 $83,014.36

Annual Budget
Oct 2020
Sep 2021

Current Period
Jun 2021
Jun 2021

Actual

Year-To-Date
Oct 2020
Jun 2021

Actual

Annual Budget
Oct 2020
Sep 2021
Variance

Oct 2020
Sep 2021

Percent of
Budget



7/15/2021 Page 5 of 18GENERAL FUND
3:05 PM Statement of Revenue and Expenditures

5502 Internet/Telephone 0.00 67.16 (67.16) 0.00%
Total Utilities Expense $0.00 $67.16 ($67.16)

Utilities Expense

5201 Office Supplies 0.00 207.27 (207.27) 0.00%
5299 Miscellaneous Supplies 0.00 47.39 (47.39) 0.00%
5213 Council Supplies 1,500.00 0.00 1,298.71 201.29 86.58%

Total Supplies $1,500.00 $0.00 $1,553.37 ($53.37)

Supplies

5322 Training/ Dues/ Memberships 15,000.00 0.00 1,615.00 13,385.00 10.77%
5310 Software 0.00 144.00 (144.00) 0.00%
5325 Municipal Judge Training 500.00 0.00 500.00 0.00%
5305 Legal Notices 0.00 310.80 (310.80) 0.00%
5370 Election Expense 0.00 2,030.37 (2,030.37) 0.00%

Total Services $15,500.00 $0.00 $4,100.17 $11,399.83

Services

5108 Legal Expenses 0.00 10,424.12 (10,424.12) 0.00%
5110 City Planner 0.00 462.83 (462.83) 0.00%

Total Contract Labor $0.00 $10,886.95 ($10,886.95)

Contract Labor

City Council Totals $17,000.00 $0.00 $16,607.65 $392.35

City Council

Annual Budget
Oct 2020
Sep 2021

Current Period
Jun 2021
Jun 2021

Actual

Year-To-Date
Oct 2020
Jun 2021

Actual

Annual Budget
Oct 2020
Sep 2021
Variance

Oct 2020
Sep 2021

Percent of
Budget



7/15/2021 Page 6 of 18GENERAL FUND
3:05 PM Statement of Revenue and Expenditures

5502 Internet/Telephone 2,000.00 67.17 1,339.04 660.96 66.95%
5501 Electric / Trash 1,400.00 0.00 560.33 839.67 40.02%

Total Utilities Expense $3,400.00 $67.17 $1,899.37 $1,500.63

Utilities Expense

5207 Postage 400.00 0.00 16.30 383.70 4.08%
5201 Office Supplies 2,000.00 0.00 422.51 1,577.49 21.13%
5202 Equipment 500.00 0.00 2,022.74 (1,522.74) 404.55%

Total Supplies $2,900.00 $0.00 $2,461.55 $438.45

Supplies

5322 Training/ Dues/ Memberships 4,000.00 0.00 535.56 3,464.44 13.39%
5310 Software 4,000.00 0.00 4,000.00 0.00%
5306 Recording 2,000.00 0.00 2,000.00 0.00%
5305 Legal Notices 1,800.00 0.00 206.25 1,593.75 11.46%
5330 Ads - Marketing 1,000.00 0.00 1,000.00 0.00%

Total Services $12,800.00 $0.00 $741.81 $12,058.19

Services

5008 Worker's Comp 200.00 0.00 288.32 (88.32) 144.16%
5005 TMRS 6,823.00 357.99 4,865.43 1,957.57 71.31%
5001 Salaries 61,282.00 3,399.60 45,328.00 15,954.00 73.97%
5009 Mileage 500.00 0.00 500.00 0.00%
5012 LTD, STD and Life 951.00 0.00 951.00 0.00%
5004 Longevity Pay 748.00 0.00 875.89 (127.89) 117.10%
5006 Health Insurance 8,865.00 100.32 6,130.69 2,734.31 69.16%
5007 FICA - Payroll Taxes 4,745.00 260.07 3,534.61 1,210.39 74.49%

Total Salaries & Payroll $84,114.00 $4,117.98 $61,022.94 $23,091.06

Salaries & Payroll

5901 Miscellaneous Expense 600.00 0.00 600.00 0.00%
Total Other Expense $600.00 $0.00 $600.00

Other Expense

5108 Legal Expenses 5,000.00 0.00 5,000.00 0.00%
Total Contract Labor $5,000.00 $0.00 $5,000.00

Contract Labor

City Secretary Totals $108,814.00 $4,185.15 $66,125.67 $42,688.33

City Secretary

Annual Budget
Oct 2020
Sep 2021

Current Period
Jun 2021
Jun 2021

Actual

Year-To-Date
Oct 2020
Jun 2021

Actual

Annual Budget
Oct 2020
Sep 2021
Variance

Oct 2020
Sep 2021

Percent of
Budget



7/15/2021 Page 7 of 18GENERAL FUND
3:05 PM Statement of Revenue and Expenditures

5502 Internet/Telephone 2,000.00 67.17 913.43 1,086.57 45.67%
5501 Electric / Trash 1,400.00 0.00 560.34 839.66 40.02%

Total Utilities Expense $3,400.00 $67.17 $1,473.77 $1,926.23

Utilities Expense

5207 Postage 300.00 0.00 55.00 245.00 18.33%
5201 Office Supplies 1,500.00 0.00 78.09 1,421.91 5.21%
5299 Miscellaneous Supplies 500.00 0.00 4.33 495.67 0.87%
5202 Equipment 1,190.00 0.00 3,564.86 (2,374.86) 299.57%

Total Supplies $3,490.00 $0.00 $3,702.28 ($212.28)

Supplies

5322 Training/ Dues/ Memberships 1,500.00 0.00 857.77 642.23 57.18%
5310 Software 8,433.00 0.00 1,931.88 6,501.12 22.91%
5325 Municipal Judge Training 200.00 0.00 200.00 0.00%

Total Services $10,133.00 $0.00 $2,789.65 $7,343.35

Services

5008 Worker's Comp 150.00 0.00 288.33 (138.33) 192.22%
5005 TMRS 3,981.00 224.14 2,870.77 1,110.23 72.11%
5001 Salaries 35,090.00 1,946.40 25,843.01 9,246.99 73.65%
5003 Overtime 1,000.00 182.23 1,260.29 (260.29) 126.03%
5009 Mileage 500.00 0.00 500.00 0.00%
5012 LTD, STD and Life 951.00 0.00 951.00 0.00%
5004 Longevity Pay 100.00 0.00 159.34 (59.34) 159.34%
5006 Health Insurance 8,865.00 0.00 6,272.91 2,592.09 70.76%
5007 FICA - Payroll Taxes 2,769.00 162.85 2,085.69 683.31 75.32%

Total Salaries & Payroll $53,406.00 $2,515.62 $38,780.34 $14,625.66

Salaries & Payroll

5901 Miscellaneous Expense 7,556.00 0.00 4,931.70 2,624.30 65.27%
Total Other Expense $7,556.00 $0.00 $4,931.70 $2,624.30

Other Expense

5106 Municipal Judge 1,500.00 0.00 1,500.00 0.00%
5108 Legal Expenses 5,000.00 0.00 517.02 4,482.98 10.34%
5101 Contract Labor 500.00 740.00 (740.00) 0.00%
5107 Contract Deputies 28,000.00 2,690.58 15,747.98 12,252.02 56.24%
5102 Code Enforcement 0.00 106.35 (106.35) 0.00%

Total Contract Labor $34,500.00 $3,190.58 $17,111.35 $17,388.65

Contract Labor
Court

Annual Budget
Oct 2020
Sep 2021

Current Period
Jun 2021
Jun 2021

Actual

Year-To-Date
Oct 2020
Jun 2021

Actual

Annual Budget
Oct 2020
Sep 2021
Variance

Oct 2020
Sep 2021

Percent of
Budget



7/15/2021 Page 8 of 18GENERAL FUND
3:05 PM Statement of Revenue and Expenditures

Court Totals $112,485.00 $5,773.37 $68,789.09 $43,695.91

Annual Budget
Oct 2020
Sep 2021

Current Period
Jun 2021
Jun 2021

Actual

Year-To-Date
Oct 2020
Jun 2021

Actual

Annual Budget
Oct 2020
Sep 2021
Variance

Oct 2020
Sep 2021

Percent of
Budget



7/15/2021 Page 9 of 18GENERAL FUND
3:05 PM Statement of Revenue and Expenditures

5201 Office Supplies 0.00 194.55 (194.55) 0.00%
Total Supplies $0.00 $194.55 ($194.55)

Supplies

5320 Equipment Rental 0.00 166.45 (166.45) 0.00%
Total Services $0.00 $166.45 ($166.45)

Services

5101 Contract Labor 0.00 880.00 (880.00) 0.00%
Total Contract Labor $0.00 $880.00 ($880.00)

Contract Labor

Non- Departmental Totals $0.00 $1,241.00 ($1,241.00)

Non- Departmental

Annual Budget
Oct 2020
Sep 2021

Current Period
Jun 2021
Jun 2021

Actual

Year-To-Date
Oct 2020
Jun 2021

Actual

Annual Budget
Oct 2020
Sep 2021
Variance

Oct 2020
Sep 2021

Percent of
Budget



7/15/2021 Page 10 of 18GENERAL FUND
3:05 PM Statement of Revenue and Expenditures

5101 Contract Labor 0.00 925.00 (925.00) 0.00%
5107 Contract Deputies 0.00 467.67 (467.67) 0.00%

Total Contract Labor $0.00 $1,392.67 ($1,392.67)

Contract Labor

Public Safety Totals $0.00 $1,392.67 ($1,392.67)

Public Safety

Annual Budget
Oct 2020
Sep 2021

Current Period
Jun 2021
Jun 2021

Actual

Year-To-Date
Oct 2020
Jun 2021

Actual

Annual Budget
Oct 2020
Sep 2021
Variance

Oct 2020
Sep 2021

Percent of
Budget



7/15/2021 Page 11 of 18GENERAL FUND
3:05 PM Statement of Revenue and Expenditures

5501 Electric / Trash 1,400.00 0.00 2,345.06 (945.06) 167.50%
Utilities Expense

5222 Signs 1,500.00 0.00 3,766.25 (2,266.25) 251.08%
5207 Postage 0.00 112.00 (112.00) 0.00%
5201 Office Supplies 250.00 0.00 2,056.23 (1,806.23) 822.49%
5202 Equipment 500.00 0.00 10,018.60 (9,518.60) 2,003.72%

Total Supplies $2,250.00 $0.00 $15,953.08 ($13,703.08)

Supplies

5322 Training/ Dues/ Memberships 1,000.00 0.00 630.00 370.00 63.00%
5306 Recording 0.00 30.00 (30.00) 0.00%
5320 Equipment Rental 2,500.00 0.00 300.96 2,199.04 12.04%

Total Services $3,500.00 $0.00 $960.96 $2,539.04

Services

5430 Tractor/ Truck Repairs 2,000.00 3,607.40 10,072.31 (8,072.31) 503.62%
5420 Tractor / Truck Diesel 1,500.00 0.00 2,155.70 (655.70) 143.71%
5410 Road Maintenance 10,000.00 649.98 11,283.09 (1,283.09) 112.83%
5401 Building Repairs 12,000.00 1,210.00 14,347.52 (2,347.52) 119.56%

Total Repair / Maintenance Expense $25,500.00 $5,467.38 $37,858.62 ($12,358.62)

Repair / Maintenance Expense

5421 Tolls 12.60 12.60 (12.60) 0.00%
5901 Miscellaneous Expense 3,000.00 0.00 236.50 2,763.50 7.88%

Total Other Expense $3,000.00 $12.60 $249.10 $2,750.90

Other Expense

5103 Septic Inspector 6,500.00 1,237.50 13,557.50 (7,057.50) 208.58%
5108 Legal Expenses 20,000.00 0.00 20,000.00 0.00%
5101 Contract Labor 94,000.00 4,065.75 42,709.79 51,290.21 45.44%
5102 Code Enforcement 25,000.00 350.00 7,928.00 17,072.00 31.71%
5110 City Planner 20,000.00 454.50 5,972.58 14,027.42 29.86%
5109 City Engineer 10,000.00 3,000.00 12,355.63 (2,355.63) 123.56%
5105 Building Inspector 50,000.00 3,217.50 25,541.68 24,458.32 51.08%
5104 Animal Control 2,000.00 125.00 1,200.00 800.00 60.00%

Total Contract Labor $227,500.00 $12,450.25 $109,265.18 $118,234.82

Contract Labor

6020 Equipment - Capital 70,830.44 77,955.44 (77,955.44) 0.00%
Total Capital Outlay $70,830.44 $77,955.44 ($77,955.44)

Capital Outlay
Public Works

Annual Budget
Oct 2020
Sep 2021

Current Period
Jun 2021
Jun 2021

Actual

Year-To-Date
Oct 2020
Jun 2021

Actual

Annual Budget
Oct 2020
Sep 2021
Variance

Oct 2020
Sep 2021

Percent of
Budget



7/15/2021 Page 12 of 18GENERAL FUND
3:05 PM Statement of Revenue and Expenditures

5505 Street Lights 4,000.00 209.39 2,665.15 1,334.85 66.63%
5502 Internet/Telephone 0.00 291.31 (291.31) 0.00%

Total Utilities Expense $5,400.00 $209.39 $5,301.52 $98.48
Public Works Totals $267,150.00 $88,970.06 $247,543.90 $19,606.10

Annual Budget
Oct 2020
Sep 2021

Current Period
Jun 2021
Jun 2021

Actual

Year-To-Date
Oct 2020
Jun 2021

Actual

Annual Budget
Oct 2020
Sep 2021
Variance

Oct 2020
Sep 2021

Percent of
Budget



7/15/2021 Page 13 of 18GENERAL FUND
3:05 PM Statement of Revenue and Expenditures

5201 Office Supplies 0.00 (82.43) 82.43 0.00%
Total Supplies $0.00 ($82.43) $82.43

Supplies

5322 Training/ Dues/ Memberships 0.00 (50.00) 50.00 0.00%
Total Services $0.00 ($50.00) $50.00

Services

5880 Chargeback 0.00 (2,475.00) 2,475.00 0.00%
Total Other Expense $0.00 ($2,475.00) $2,475.00

Other Expense

Revenues Totals $0.00 ($2,607.43) $2,607.43

Revenues

Annual Budget
Oct 2020
Sep 2021

Current Period
Jun 2021
Jun 2021

Actual

Year-To-Date
Oct 2020
Jun 2021

Actual

Annual Budget
Oct 2020
Sep 2021
Variance

Oct 2020
Sep 2021

Percent of
Budget



7/15/2021 Page 14 of 18GENERAL FUND
3:05 PM Statement of Revenue and Expenditures

5322 Training/ Dues/ Memberships 0.00 37.00 (37.00) 0.00%
5350 Professional Services 0.00 (50,262.55) 50,262.55 0.00%

Total Services $0.00 ($50,225.55) $50,225.55

Services

5901 Miscellaneous Expense 0.00 112.36 (112.36) 0.00%
5880 Chargeback 0.00 1,716.60 (1,716.60) 0.00%

Total Other Expense $0.00 $1,828.96 ($1,828.96)

Other Expense

5108 Legal Expenses 0.00 7,402.31 (7,402.31) 0.00%
5105 Building Inspector 0.00 715.00 (715.00) 0.00%

Total Contract Labor $0.00 $8,117.31 ($8,117.31)

Contract Labor

Unallocated Totals $0.00 ($40,279.28) $40,279.28

Unallocated

Annual Budget
Oct 2020
Sep 2021

Current Period
Jun 2021
Jun 2021

Actual

Year-To-Date
Oct 2020
Jun 2021

Actual

Annual Budget
Oct 2020
Sep 2021
Variance

Oct 2020
Sep 2021

Percent of
Budget



7/15/2021 Page 15 of 18GENERAL FUND
3:05 PM Statement of Revenue and Expenditures

8100 Transfers In 0.00 300,000.00 (300,000.00) 0.00%
Total Transfer Revenue $0.00 $300,000.00 ($300,000.00)

Transfer Revenue

City Administration Totals $0.00 $300,000.00 ($300,000.00)

City Administration
Transfers In

Revenue Less Expenditures $281,268.00 ($119,466.02) $744,839.10
Expenses $798,440.00 $119,466.02 $568,789.91 $229,650.09

Annual Budget
Oct 2020
Sep 2021

Current Period
Jun 2021
Jun 2021

Actual

Year-To-Date
Oct 2020
Jun 2021

Actual

Annual Budget
Oct 2020
Sep 2021
Variance

Oct 2020
Sep 2021

Percent of
Budget



7/15/2021 Page 16 of 18GENERAL FUND
3:05 PM Statement of Revenue and Expenditures

9100 Transfers Out 0.00 300,000.00 (300,000.00) 0.00%
Total Transfer Expense $0.00 $300,000.00 ($300,000.00)

Transfer Expense

City Administration Totals $0.00 $300,000.00 ($300,000.00)

City Administration
Transfers Out

Transfers In $0.00 $300,000.00 ($300,000.00)

Annual Budget
Oct 2020
Sep 2021

Current Period
Jun 2021
Jun 2021

Actual

Year-To-Date
Oct 2020
Jun 2021

Actual

Annual Budget
Oct 2020
Sep 2021
Variance

Oct 2020
Sep 2021

Percent of
Budget



7/15/2021 Page 17 of 18GENERAL FUND
3:05 PM Statement of Revenue and Expenditures

9100 Transfers Out 150,000.00 0.00 150,000.00 0.00%
Total Transfer Expense $150,000.00 $0.00 $150,000.00

Transfer Expense

Public Works Totals $150,000.00 $0.00 $150,000.00

Public Works

Annual Budget
Oct 2020
Sep 2021

Current Period
Jun 2021
Jun 2021

Actual

Year-To-Date
Oct 2020
Jun 2021

Actual

Annual Budget
Oct 2020
Sep 2021
Variance

Oct 2020
Sep 2021

Percent of
Budget



7/15/2021 Page 18 of 18GENERAL FUND
3:05 PM Statement of Revenue and Expenditures

Net Change in Fund Balance $131,268.00 ($119,466.02) $744,839.10
Transfers Out $150,000.00 $0.00 $300,000.00 ($150,000.00)

Annual Budget
Oct 2020
Sep 2021

Current Period
Jun 2021
Jun 2021

Actual

Year-To-Date
Oct 2020
Jun 2021

Actual

Annual Budget
Oct 2020
Sep 2021
Variance

Oct 2020
Sep 2021

Percent of
Budget



Accept the amended April 5, May 3, May 14, and May 17, 2021 City Council Meeting minutes. 

Please review the minutes and be prepared to amend or add any clarification that the Council 
may deem necessary for the minutes. 

Ben Nibarger, City Administrator

Ben Nibarger, City Administrator
Review, make recommendations for comments/changes, and accept the meeting minutes 

 
May 3, 14, and 17, 2021 City Council Meeting Minutes 
April 5, and 19, 2021 City Council Meeting Minutes 







 

Page 1 of 7 

Nolan choonmaker



Page 2 of 7 

Rebecca McPherson



Page 3 of 7 



Page 4 of 7 



Page 5 of 7 



Page  of 7 



Page 7 of 7 

 











Accept the une 7, and 21, 2021 City Council Meeting minutes. 

Please review the minutes and be prepared to amend or add any clarification that the Council 
may deem necessary for the minutes. 

Ben Nibarger, City Administrator

Ben Nibarger, City Administrator
Review, make recommendations for comments/changes, and accept the meeting minutes 

 
une 7, 2021 City Council Meeting Minutes 
une 21, 2021 City Council Meeting Minutes  





















iscuss, consider, and act on the inal Plat submission for the County ine Business Park 
located in the New airview  enton County . 

he applicant for the County ine Business Park has provided all the necessary e hibits and has 
resolved all comments provided by the city planner and engineer. heir pro ect meets all 
re uirements and was unanimously approved by the Planning and oning Commission Meeting 
on uly 12, 2021. he area shaded red in the map below shows the site. 



N/A 
 

Ben Nibarger, City Administrator 
taff recommends approval as submitted. 

 

Application 
inal Plat 







Legal Description: _____________________________________________________

General Location: _____________________________________________________ 

Proposed Name of Subdivision: __________________________________________ 

Acreage of Subdivision: ________________________________________________ 

Number of Proposed Lots: ______________________________________________ 

Residential & Commercial Density 
(Based on Gross Acreage): _____________________________________________ 

Present Zoning of Subject Property: ______________________________________ 

Appraisal District Tax I.D. Number: _____________________________________ 

Proposed Use of the Land: ____________________________________________ 

 

Name: ___________________________________________________________

Company Name: ___________________________________________________ 

Address: _________________________________________________________ 

Telephone #: ________________________ Fax #: _______________________ 

Email Address: ___________________________________________________ 

 

 
Completed signed and notarized application 
Submit all requirements on the platting checklist 
Payment of all appropriate fees 
Turn in completed application a minimum of 21 days prior to the next Planning and 
Zoning Commission Meeting 
Owner’s affidavit 
Tax payment statement from all taxing entities 



 

Printed Name: _____________________________ Date: _____________________________ 

Signature: ________________________________ 

 

 

Accepted by: __________________________________ Date: ________________________ 

Fee Paid: ____________________ Date Paid: ____________________ 

Check/Cash/Other: ____________________ Receipt Number: __________________________ 

 

 

 

____________________________ _____________

_______________________________________________________________________________ __________________________________ __________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ ___________________



CALLED 2.00 ACRES
GFAT, LLC

DOC. NO. 2020-159678, O.R.D.C.T.

B  L  O  C  K    1

L O T   1

CALLED 17.99 ACRES
GFAT, LLC

DOC. NO. 2020-159679
O.R.D.C.T.

L O T   2L O T   3

L O T   4L O T   5L O T   6L O T   7L O T   8

L O T   10L O T   9 L O T   11 L O T   12 L O T   13 L O T   14

L O T   15

L O T   16

GENERAL NOTES

VICINITY MAP
(NOT TO SCALE)

COUNTY LINE
BUSINESS PARK

EAGLE SURVEYING, LLC

OWNER'S CERTIFICATE & DEDICATION

CERTIFICATE OF SURVEYOR

SURVEYOR ENGINEER

CERTIFICATE OF APPROVAL

LEGEND

OWNER

N



iscuss, consider, and act on the inal Plat for Phase  of the airview Meadows residential 
development located in the New airview  ise County . 

he City of New airview entered into a development agreement with Riverside omebuilders, 
. he firm has submitted the inal Plat for Phase  of the airview Meadows residential 

development. he final plat conforms to the preliminary plat and has been reviewed by the city s 
engineering and planning consultants and their comments have been addressed. he submission 
meets the re uirements outlined in the city ordinances and the development agreement.  



N/A 
 

Ben Nibarger, City Administrator 
taff recommends approval as submitted. 

 

Application 
inal Plat Phase   





TO 































































































iscuss, consider, and act on an ordinance of the City Council of the City of New airview, 
e as approving the annual service plan update to the service and assessment plan, including the 

assessment roll, for the City of New airview Constellation ake Public mprovement istrict 
P  in accordance with Chapter 372, e as ocal overnment Code, as amended  and 

providing an effective date. 

he City of New airview established a P  for Constellation ake in 2020 and is re uired to 
adopt an update to the annual service and assessment plan. he attached ordinance has been 
prepared by our P  consultant, P3 orks.  

N/A 

Ben Nibarger, City Administrator
taff recommends approval as submitted. 

AP pdate 
rdinance 



 

 







 - 

 - 





Improvement Area #1 Improvements

Future Improvement Area Improvements

Major Improvements

Notes:



SERVICE PLAN - FIVE YEAR BUDGET FORECASTT 

Notes:



Notes:



Notes:



[Remainder of page left intentionally blank.]  



Authorized Improvements
New Fairview Constellation Lake Public Improvement District District





Notes:



Notes:



Notes:



 P3 orks, C 
  92 4 untington uare, uite 100 
   North Richland ills,  7 1 2 

 
 

ate  
enton County Clerk s ffice 
onorable County Clerk Name  

1450 ast Mc inney treet 
enton,  7 209 4524 

 

ear Ms./Mr. County Clerk Name , 

nclosed is a lien release that the City of New airview is re uesting to be filed in your office. 
ien release for insert legal description  created by ocument/ nstrument No. Plat . Please 

forward copies of the filed documents below  
 
City of New airview 
Attn  City ecretary  
999 llinois ane 
New airview,  7 07  
 
Please contact me if you have any uestions or need additional information. 
 

incerely, 
ignature  

 
P3 orks, C 
P  17  393 0353 
admin p3 works.com 
www.P3 orks.com 



 

this ull 
Release  is e ecuted and delivered as of the ffective ate by the City of New airview, e as, 
a e as general law municipality. 

 
, the governing body hereinafter referred to as the City Council  of the City 

of New airview, e as hereinafter referred to as the City , is authori ed by Chapter 372, e as 
ocal overnment Code, as amended hereinafter referred to as the Act , to create public 

improvement districts within the corporate limits and e traterritorial urisdiction of the City  and 
 

, on or about April , 2020, the City Council for the City, approved Resolution 
No. 2020 009 099, creating the New airview Constellation ake Public mprovement istrict  
and 
 

, the Constellation ake Public mprovement istrict consists of 
appro imately 723. 22 contiguous acres within the corporate limits of the City  and 
 

, on or about April 20, 2020, the City Council approved rdinance No. 2020
07 202, hereinafter referred to as the Assessment rdinance  approving a service and 
assessment plan and assessment roll for the Property within the Constellation ake Public 
mprovement istrict  and 



, the Assessment rdinance imposed an assessment in the amount of amount  
hereinafter referred to as the ien Amount  for the following property  

 
legal description , a subdivision in enton County, e as, according to the map or plat of record 

in ocument/ nstrument No.  of the Plat Records of enton County, e as hereinafter 
referred to as the Property  and 

, the property owners of the Property have paid unto the City the ien Amount.

, the City, the owner and holder of the ien, created by 
ocument/ nstrument No. , in the real property records of enton County, e as, in the 

amount of the ien Amount against the Property releases and discharges, and by these presents 
does hereby release and discharge, the above described Property from said lien held by the 
undersigned securing said indebtedness. 
 

 to be  this the  day of , 20 . 
 

A e as general law municipality, 
 
 

By   
Administrator Name , City Administrator 

 
  

ecretary Name , City ecretary 
 

 
his instrument was acknowledged before me on the  day of , 20 , by 

Administrator Name , City Administrator for the City of New airview, e as, a e as general 
law municipality, on behalf of said municipality. 
 
       
      Notary Public, tate of e asas



on April , 2020, after notice and a public hearing in the manner re uired by 
law, the City Council the City Council  of the City of New airview, e as the City  passed 
and approved Resolution No. 2020 009 099 authori ing the creation of the City of New airview 
Constellation ake Public mprovement istrict the istrict pursuant to and in accordance with 
the terms, provisions and re uirements of the Public mprovement istrict Assessment Act, 
Chapter 372, e as ocal overnment Code, as amended the P  Act  and 

pursuant to the P  Act, and after publishing and mailing the re uired 
notices, the City Council opened a public hearing on April 20, 2020, regarding the levy of special 
assessments against certain benefitted property located within the istrict, and, after hearing 
testimony at such public hearing, the City Council closed the public hearing and adopted 

rdinance No. 2020 07 202 the Assessment rdinance  on April 20, 2020  and 

in the Assessment rdinance, the City Council approved and accepted the 
City of New airview Constellation ake Public mprovement istrict ervice and Assessment 

Plan , dated April 20, 2020, the ervice and Assessment Plan  and levied the Assessments 
against benefitted property within the istrict as shown on the Assessment Roll  and 

the P  Act re uires the ervice and Assessment Plan must cover a period 
of at least five years and must also define the annual indebtedness and pro ected costs for 
improvements and such ervice and Assessment Plan must be reviewed and updated annually for 
the purposes of determining the annual budget for improvements  and  

the City Council has received the City of New airview Constellation ake 
Public mprovement istrict 2021 Annual ervice Plan pdate  the Annual ervice Plan 

pdate  which includes the updated Assessment Roll and now desires to proceed with the 
adoption of this rdinance which approves and adopts the Annual ervice Plan pdate and 
updated Assessment Roll for istrict as re uired by the P  Act.

 erms not otherwise defined herein are defined in the ervice and Assessment 
Plan.  



 hat the recitals and findings in the Recitals of this rdinance are hereby 
found and determined to be true and correct and constitute the legislative findings and 
determinations of the City Council.  

 he Annual ervice Plan pdate, including the updated Assessment 
Roll contained therein, in the form attached as  is hereby approved and the same is 
incorporated as part of this rdinance as if fully set forth in the body of this rdinance.  

 f any provision, section, subsection, sentence, clause, or phrase of this 
rdinance, or the application of same to any person or set of circumstances is for any reason held 

to be unconstitutional, void, or invalid, the validity of the remaining portions of this rdinance or 
the application to other persons or sets of circumstances shall not be affected thereby, it being the 
intent of the governing body of the City in adopting this rdinance that no portion hereof, or 
provision or regulation contained herein shall become inoperative or fail by reason of any 
unconstitutionality, voidness, or invalidity of any other portion hereof, and all provisions of this 

rdinance are declared to be severable for that purpose.  

 his rdinance shall take effect immediately from and after its passage 
in accordance with applicable law. 
 

 

C   N  A R  

 

 
Nolan choonmaker, Mayor 

 

A  

  

 
Monica Rodrigue , City ecretary  



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

[Remainder of page left intentionally blank.] 

 

 



iscuss with staff the results of the 2021 New airview Citi en atisfaction urvey completed 
by C nstitute. 

he city council directed staff to obtain input from the community to help facilitate resource 
allocation and decision making. n April 2021, the city council approved an agreement with C 
nstitute to conduct a citi en satisfaction survey. he survey was administered to all households 

in New airview in May and une 2021, through multiple mailings, with prepaid return postage, 
email notifications, website links, and social media which provided internet based survey options 
to the citi ens.  

he survey responses were cleaned to include only one survey response per household. 
ollowing this process, C had 102 completed surveys. he results from these surveys are 

incorporated into the attached report.   

N/A 

Ben Nibarger, City Administrator

New airview urvey Results
New airview Benchmark Results  



…helping organizations make better decisions since 1982 





 

who had an opinion.



 

who had an opinion,

who had an opinion,

who had an opinion

who had an opinion

who had an opinion



 

who had an opinion

who had an opinion

who 
had an opinion

who had an opinion

who had an opinion



 



 



 
 

Charts and Graphs 



very satisfied very dissatisfied







very satisfied very dissatisfied



very satisfied very dissatisfied







very safe very unsafe



very satisfied very dissatisfied







very satisfied very dissatisfied



very satisfied very dissatisfied



very satisfied very dissatisfied





very satisfied very dissatisfied







very satisfied very dissatisfied



daily never



very important not important at all













very satisfied very dissatisfied











Demographics

City of New Fairview
 Citizen Satisfaction Survey

July 2021





















Importance-Satisfaction Analysis



maintenance of city streets

maintenance of city streets



Definitely Increase Emphasis
Increase Current Emphasis
Maintain Current Emphasis

















Tabular Data 



  

































































































Survey Instrument 





 Major Categories of City Services Very 
Satisfied Satisfied Neutral Dissatisfied Very 

Dissatisfied Don't Know 

01. Overall quality of police, fire, and emergency medical services 5 4 3 2 1 9 
02. Overall quality of city parks and recreation programs and facilities 5 4 3 2 1 9 
03. Overall maintenance of city streets 5 4 3 2 1 9 
04. Overall maintenance of city buildings and facilities 5 4 3 2 1 9 
05. Overall quality of city water and sewer services 5 4 3 2 1 9 
06. Overall enforcement of city codes and ordinances 5 4 3 2 1 9 
07. Overall quality of customer service you receive from city employees 5 4 3 2 1 9 
08. Overall effectiveness of city communication with the public 5 4 3 2 1 9 

09. Overall quality of the city's stormwater runoff/stormwater 
management system 5 4 3 2 1 9 

10. Overall flow of traffic and congestion management in the city 5 4 3 2 1 9 
11. Opportunities for community engagement through volunteer programs 5 4 3 2 1 9 

1st: ____ 2nd: ____ 3rd: ____ 

____(1) Yes ____(2) No 

 Perceptions of the City Very 
Satisfied Satisfied Neutral Dissatisfied Very 

Dissatisfied Don't Know 

01. New Fairview as a place to live 5 4 3 2 1 9 
02. New Fairview as a place to raise children 5 4 3 2 1 9 
03. New Fairview as a place to work 5 4 3 2 1 9 
04. New Fairview as a place to retire 5 4 3 2 1 9 
05. Overall image of New Fairview 5 4 3 2 1 9 
06. Overall quality of life in New Fairview 5 4 3 2 1 9 
07. Overall quality of local government services 5 4 3 2 1 9 
08. Overall quality of event programming  5 4 3 2 1 9 
09. Overall appearance of New Fairview 5 4 3 2 1 9 
10. Overall value you receive for your local tax dollars and fees 5 4 3 2 1 9 
11. Overall trust level in city staff to wisely use city resources 5 4 3 2 1 9 

12. Overall level of satisfaction of the city's stewardship of 
financial resources 5 4 3 2 1 9 



 City Maintenance Very 
Satisfied Satisfied Neutral Dissatisfied Very 

Dissatisfied Don't Know 

01. Condition of major city streets 5 4 3 2 1 9 
02. Condition of streets in your neighborhood 5 4 3 2 1 9 
03. Traffic flow on major city streets 5 4 3 2 1 9 
04. Pedestrian accessibility (number/availability of sidewalks) 5 4 3 2 1 9 
05. Appearance and condition of medians, right-of-ways, and public areas 5 4 3 2 1 9 
06. Adequacy of the street lighting in your neighborhood 5 4 3 2 1 9 
07. Condition of pavement markings on city streets 5 4 3 2 1 9 
08. Overall cleanliness of streets and public areas 5 4 3 2 1 9 

1st: ____ 2nd: ____ 

____(1) Yes ____(2) No 

 Feeling of Safety Very Safe Safe Neutral Unsafe Very Unsafe Don't Know 
01. In your neighborhood during the day 5 4 3 2 1 9 
02. In your neighborhood at night 5 4 3 2 1 9 
03. In the city's parks, trails, and recreational areas 5 4 3 2 1 9 
04. In commercial and retail areas 5 4 3 2 1 9 
05. Overall feeling of safety in the city 5 4 3 2 1 9 
06. Pedestrian traveling (walking, biking, etc.) 5 4 3 2 1 9 

 Public Safety Services Very 
Satisfied Satisfied Neutral Dissatisfied Very 

Dissatisfied Don't Know 

01. Quality of police protection 5 4 3 2 1 9 
02. Visibility of police in neighborhoods 5 4 3 2 1 9 
03. Police response time 5 4 3 2 1 9 
04. Efforts to communicate with the public 5 4 3 2 1 9 
05. Quality of police community outreach programs  5 4 3 2 1 9 
06. Enforcement of traffic laws 5 4 3 2 1 9 
07. Quality of animal control services 5 4 3 2 1 9 

08. Quality and accessibility of municipal court services (e.g., traffic, 
collections, fines) 5 4 3 2 1 9 

09. Quality of fire protection 5 4 3 2 1 9 
10. Quality of emergency medical services 5 4 3 2 1 9 
11. Fire personnel emergency response time 5 4 3 2 1 9 

1st: ____ 2nd: ____ 



____(1) Yes ____(2) No 

 Enforcement of City Codes and Ordinances Very 
Satisfied Satisfied Neutral Dissatisfied Very 

Dissatisfied Don't Know 

01. Overall responsiveness of city code enforcement staff 5 4 3 2 1 9 
02. City effort to enforce code violations 5 4 3 2 1 9 
03. Clean-up of debris/litter 5 4 3 2 1 9 

04. Efforts to enforce exterior maintenance and upkeep of 
residential property 5 4 3 2 1 9 

05. Cleanliness in your neighborhood 5 4 3 2 1 9 
06. Degree to which code violations are a problem 5 4 3 2 1 9 

 Development Services Very 
Satisfied Satisfied Neutral Dissatisfied Very 

Dissatisfied Don't Know 

01. Variety of housing options 5 4 3 2 1 9 
02. Public places where people want to spend time 5 4 3 2 1 9 
03. Availability of employment opportunities 5 4 3 2 1 9 
04. Availability of shopping options 5 4 3 2 1 9 
05. Availability of dining options 5 4 3 2 1 9 
06. Availability of entertainment options 5 4 3 2 1 9 
07. Availability of lodging options 5 4 3 2 1 9 

08. Overall quality of business and service establishments in New 
Fairview 5 4 3 2 1 9 

09. Overall quality of new residential development 5 4 3 2 1 9 
10. Overall quality of new commercial development 5 4 3 2 1 9 

 Solid Waste/Utility Services Very 
Satisfied Satisfied Neutral Dissatisfied Very 

Dissatisfied Don't Know 

01. Quality of residential garbage collection 5 4 3 2 1 9 
02. Quality of yard waste and brush collection 5 4 3 2 1 9 

03. Bulky item pick up/removal services (e.g., old furniture, 
appliances) 5 4 3 2 1 9 

04. Household hazardous waste disposal service (e.g., fertilizers, 
household chemicals, antifreeze) 5 4 3 2 1 9 

05. Electronic waste disposal service (e.g., televisions, computers, 
fax machines, CD/DVD players) 5 4 3 2 1 9 

____(1) Yes        ____(2) No 

 Public Works Services Very 
Satisfied Satisfied Neutral Dissatisfied Very 

Dissatisfied Don't Know 

01. Quality of water services customer service 5 4 3 2 1 9 
02. Quality of drinking water 5 4 3 2 1 9 
03. Quality of water pressure 5 4 3 2 1 9 



____(1) Private well ____(2) Monarch ____(3) Aqua Texas ____(4) Other: __________________________ 

____(1) Yes ____(2) No 

 Parks and Recreation Very 
Satisfied Satisfied Neutral Dissatisfied Very 

Dissatisfied Don't Know 

01. Quality of city parks 5 4 3 2 1 9 
02. Number of city parks 5 4 3 2 1 9 
03. Quality of walking and biking trails 5 4 3 2 1 9 
04. Number of walking and biking trails 5 4 3 2 1 9 
05. Quality of maintenance of city parks 5 4 3 2 1 9 

 Recreational Activity Daily Weekly Monthly Once or 
Twice/year Seldom Never 

01. Attend a program or trip 6 5 4 3 2 1 
02. Baseball/Softball fields 6 5 4 3 2 1 
03. Basketball courts 6 5 4 3 2 1 
04. Bocce ball courts 6 5 4 3 2 1 
05. Cardio equipment 6 5 4 3 2 1 
06. Classrooms/meeting rooms 6 5 4 3 2 1 
07. Computer lab/classroom 6 5 4 3 2 1 
08. Dance studio/exercise studio 6 5 4 3 2 1 
09. Dog parks 6 5 4 3 2 1 
10. Dry sauna 6 5 4 3 2 1 
11. Hot tub 6 5 4 3 2 1 
12. Indoor event space 6 5 4 3 2 1 
13. Indoor fitness classes (spin, yoga, etc.) 6 5 4 3 2 1 
14. Indoor fitness facilities (cardio/weights) 6 5 4 3 2 1 
15. Indoor performance space 6 5 4 3 2 1 
16. Indoor pool/aquatic center 6 5 4 3 2 1 
17. Library facilities 6 5 4 3 2 1 
18. Lighted sports fields 6 5 4 3 2 1 
19. Locker room 6 5 4 3 2 1 
20. Outdoor amphitheater/stage/performance area 6 5 4 3 2 1 
21. Outdoor pool/aquatic center 6 5 4 3 2 1 
22. Park benches to relax, read, enjoy nature 6 5 4 3 2 1 
23. Pickleball courts 6 5 4 3 2 1 
24. Picnic facilities 6 5 4 3 2 1 
25. Playgrounds 6 5 4 3 2 1 
26. Private Event Space (birthdays, weddings, etc.) 6 5 4 3 2 1 
27. Racquetball courts 6 5 4 3 2 1 
28. Skate park 6 5 4 3 2 1 
29. Soccer fields 6 5 4 3 2 1 
30. Social space for active older adults/seniors 6 5 4 3 2 1 
31. Steam room 6 5 4 3 2 1 
32. Technology/Innovation Center (creative/maker space) 6 5 4 3 2 1 
33. Tennis courts 6 5 4 3 2 1 
34. Weight equipment 6 5 4 3 2 1 
35. Youth camps 6 5 4 3 2 1 



 Area Very 
Important Important Neutral Not 

Important 
Not 

Important 
at All 

Don't 
Know 

01. Economic development 5 4 3 2 1 9 
02. Maintaining city infrastructure 5 4 3 2 1 9 
03. Transportation systems (e.g., streets, walking trails, bike paths) 5 4 3 2 1 9 
04. Customer service (training for employees, competitive salaries, etc.) 5 4 3 2 1 9 
05. Financial health (e.g., implement long-term financial plans, participate 

in best practices) 5 4 3 2 1 9 

06. Public safety (e.g., utilizing technology to enhance public safety, 
training for first responders) 5 4 3 2 1 9 

____(01) Active family game night (outdoor activities) 
____(02) Art exhibits 
____(03) BBQ competition 
____(04) Big band dances 
____(05) Chili cookoff 
____(06) City fireworks display 
____(07) Community Garage Sale 
____(08) Cultural events (art exhibitions, local artist 

events, local author events, etc.) 
____(09) Food truck events 

____(10) Holiday celebrations (Thanksgiving, Christmas, etc.) 
____(11) Library facility (book/media/music rentals, computers, etc.) 
____(12) Light festival 
____(13) Music festival 
____(14) Oktoberfest 
____(15) Programs for people with special needs 
____(16) Shakespeare in the Park 
____(17) Summer concert series 
____(18) Teen events 
____(19) Theatre performance 

1st: ____ 2nd: ____ 

____(1) Yes [Answer Q21a-b.] ____(2) No [Skip to Q22.] 

____(1) Phone 
____(2) E-mail 

____(3) Social media 
____(4) In person 

____(5) Elected official 

____(1) Very easy 
____(2) Somewhat easy 

____(3) Difficult 
____(4) Very difficult 

____(9) Don't know 



 Communication Very 
Satisfied Satisfied Neutral Dissatisfied Very 

Dissatisfied Don't Know 

01. Quality of the city's website 5 4 3 2 1 9 
02. Quality of the city's social media (e.g., Facebook) 5 4 3 2 1 9 
03. Availability of information on city services and programs 5 4 3 2 1 9 
04. City's efforts to keep you informed 5 4 3 2 1 9 
05. Opportunities to provide public input into decisions 5 4 3 2 1 9 

____(1) City website 
____(2) Local newspaper 
____(3) Social networking site (Facebook, Twitter) 
____(4) Word of mouth (friends/neighbors) 
____(5) City emails/press releases 

____(6) City Newsletter 
____(7) Public meetings 
____(8) NextDoor 
____(9) Other: ______________________________________

____(1) Yes ____(2) No 

____(1) Apartment ____(2) Single family home ____(3) Duplex ____(4) Manufactured housing 

____(1) Rent ____(2) Own your home ____(3) Live with another household 

______ years 
______ years 

____(01) Asian/Pacific Islander 
____(02) Black/African American 
____(03) Native American 

____(04) White/Caucasian 
____(05) Hispanic 
____(99) Other: ________________________________ 

____(1) Less than $20,000 
____(2) $20,000 to $39,999 
____(3) $40,000 to $59,999 

____(4) $60,000 to $79,999 
____(5) $80,000 to $149,999 
____(6) $150,000 or more

____(1) High School/No degree 
____(2) High School graduate or GED 
____(3) Some college 
____(4) Associate's Degree 

____(5) Bachelor's Degree 
____(6) Master's Degree 
____(7) Professional Degree (JD, MD, DDC) 
____(8) Doctorate Degree (PhD, EdD) 



____(1) Male ____(2) Female 

______ people 

______ people 

____(1) Attend public school within district 
____(2) Attend public school, with out-of-district transfer 
____(3) Attend private school 

____(4) Home school 
____(5) Charter school 
____(6) Not Applicable 

1st: _______________________________________________________________________________________________ 
2nd: _______________________________________________________________________________________________ 
3rd: _______________________________________________________________________________________________ 

Your responses will remain completely confidential. 
The information printed to the right will ONLY be 
used to help identify which areas of the city are 
having problems with city services. If you address 
is not correct, please provide the correct 
information. Thank you. 



…helping organizations make better decisions since 1982 



DirectionFinder





















Discuss with staff the Fiscal Year 2021/2022 annual operating and capital improvement budget. 

The City Council has been reviewing service levels and options available to the City moving 
forward to determine how best to meet the needs of the community. Further, the City Council 
participated in the Texas Rural Leadership Program and a Retreat where they discussed the 
vision, mission, and values to better enable staff to align programming and resources. 

Over the last several council meetings, the City Council and staff started the budget discussion at 
a fairly high-level, not focusing on dollars but the issues that the City is facing and started to 
discuss the prioritization of the issues. In the June 7, 2021 meeting staff presented estimates on 
the costs to fund the streets throughout the community, not including many of the private roads 
that were previously thought to be city owned and maintained. Staff presented the engineer's 
estimate on the right-sizing cost for the water and wastewater systems that would need to be 
developed in partnership with the Constellation Lake and Shoop Ranch developments. Further, 
staff discussed what the budget would potentially reflect if they decide to move forward with a 
budget that keeps service levels the same. 

N/A   

Ben Nibarger, City Administrator

 
N/A 



Discussion with staff regarding dark sky initiative and ordinance.  

 
One of the features most seen and valued in a rural setting are the stars. ith development 
activities increasing and lights being installed for safety and convenience of residents and 
businesses some of our residents are already seeing a decrease in this valuable attribute. 
Additionally, light pollution, the cause for the loss of dark skies, affects public health, local 
wildlife, public safety, and results in a waste of finite resources. In order to maintain a rural feel, 
future development can be regulated to protect the valuable asset of dark skies. Organizations 
have been created to help cities and developments understand how they can be successful in 
creating safe and beautiful environments, while still maintaining a dark sky.   

International Dark Sky Association - https //www.darksky.org/ 
International Dark Sky Association, Texas Chapter - http //idatexas.org/ 
Illumination ngineer Society of North America I SNA  - https //www.ies.org/  
Illinois Lighting - http //www.illinoislighting.org/index.html 
Applications from other communities to become Dark Sky Communities 

Several cities throughout the Country and the State have adopted ordinances and policies to 
protect their night skies through the regulation of night pollution. City staff has researched 
implementing a dark sky ordinance and has prepared an ordinance to be reviewed. Additionally, 
there are further actions that can be taken to secure the night sky, which include applying to 
become an official IDA community, and encouraging local communities to implement similar 
policies. nforcement of the ordinance will be another ma or discussion point.  

Costs of implementing such an ordinance are being discussed with co-serve. A ma ority of the 
costs stems from retrofitting city lighting, including street lighting, building lighting, etc. 
Additionally, city staff are seeking potential energy saving grants with the .S department of 



nergy. Similar cities have noted that costs of implementing such an ordinance remained under 
10,000.  

 

Salvador onzalez, anagement Intern 
 
Provide input and feedback to staff regarding the dark sky ordinance to prevent the loss of a rural 
feel brought on by future development light pollution. Furthermore, apply to become an official 
International Dark Sky community, and encourage surrounding communities to implement 
similar policies.  
 

 
Dark Sky Assessment 
Proposed Lighting Ordinance 



For help with this guide, contact the State of Utah’s Rural Planning 
Group: (801) 468-0133, info@ruralplanning.org.

DARK SKY ASSESSMENT GUIDE

1

HOW DO I USE THIS WORKSHEET & GUIDE?

PREPARING FOR YOUR DARK SKY ASSESSMENT

WHAT IS LIGHT POLLUTION?

and consists of four factors1:

1. Glare: Excessive brightness that causes visual discomfort
2. Sky glow: Brightening of the night sky over inhabited areas
3. Light trespass: Light falling where it is not intended or needed
4. Clutter:

sources

sky. 

The initial groundwork for a dark sky designation is establishing the 
current status. This worksheet guides users through several evaluation 
methods which could be used for a general assessment of dark sky-
friendly lighting. While not all of the included methods are required for 

assessment use as many methods as appropriate to gain a broader 

education and engagement on dark sky issues. 

 Who requested the assessment? Who is sponsoring or supporting it?
 What is the goal of your assessment?
 How will you use information gathered during the assessment?
 Will it be the only assessment or will there be more?

 
 What do they need to know to support your project and engage in the 

assessment?
 Who might help you engage with necessary stakeholders and supporters?

 

 

districts for the purposes of the assessment.
 Walk the route beforehand—are there safety concerns or other considerations that 

should be acknowledged before conducting an assessment? 
 Select areas during the day to take illustrative photos—most SLR cameras can 

take a good night photo. 
 

cover. Don’t do the assessment when the moon is in the sky.

 
will be performed.

 Notify and remind stakeholders.
 

REMEMBER TO TAKE...
 This guide
 Printed map of assessment area
 
 
 Measuring tape
 DSLR camera & tripod
 

reflective gear
 

NOTES

A QUICK GUIDE TO LIMITING LIGHT POLLUTION



8

DARK SKY ASSESSMENT GUIDE

2

3 DARK SKY LIGHTING BASICS

Lighting shielding........................................................3
Appropriate lighting levels..........................................3
Lighting color................................................................4
Essential takeaways....................................................4
Acceptable lighting types...........................................5

DIFFERENT ASSESSMENT TOOLS

Mobile apps and resources..........................................8
Who can I contact for help?.........................................8
Lighting issue concerns and land use........................9
Public engagement & education.................................9
Marking a map............................................................10
Taking night photos....................................................10

6 CONDUCTING A FORMAL AUDIT

Basic audit guidelines...................................................6
Example lighting audit log...........................................6
Example lighting audit worksheet...............................7

12 AFTER YOUR ASSESSMENT

Debrief after the assessment.....................................12

Plan action...................................................................12

13 ADDITIONAL RESOURCES

General resources.......................................................13
Recreation Lighting....................................................13

Illumination standards...............................................13

TABLE OF CONTENTS

CLUTTER:

COLOR SPECTRUM: Refers to the portion of the electromagnetic 
spectrum that is visible to the human eye.

CORRELATED COLOR TEMPERATURE (CCT):
appearance of light emitted by a lamp.

DARK SKY: Denoting or located in a place where the darkness of the 

DSLR CAMERA:
versatile cameras with changeable lenses that produce high-quality 
photos.

FOOTCANDLE (fc): Illuminance produced on a surface that is 
everywhere one foot from a uniform point source of light of one 
candle and equal to one lumen per square foot.

FULLY SHIELDED:
plane passing through the lowest light-emitting or light-reflecting part 

GLARE: Excessive brightness that causes visual discomfort.

KELVIN:

KILOWATT (Kw):

KILOWATT HOUR (kWh): A measure of electrical energy equivalent to 

LIGHT TRESPASS: Light falling where it is not intended or needed.

LUMEN: A measurement unit for the brightness from a light source.

LUMINAIRE:

LUX: One lumen per square meter. Unit of illuminance.

REFLECTION: Light redirected back into the sky off of surfaces that 
are being illuminated.

SKYGLOW: Brightening of the night sky over inhabited areas.

WATT: The standard unit of power in the International System of 

GENERAL LIGHTING TERMS



DARK SKY ASSESSMENT GUIDE

3

while causing light pollution. Proper lighting begins with proper lighting design standards which 

1. Shielding
2. Appropriate lighting levels
3. Lighting color

meaning no light above a 90-degree angle. The 

• Light trespass is light falling where it is 
not wanted or needed. Light trespass 
can create problems for neighboring and 
distant properties.

• Glare is intense and blinding light that 
can cause discomfort and temporary 
blindness.

• Skyglow reduces our ability to view 
celestial objects due to scattered light 
from sources on the ground.

The more light is directed towards the intended 

means practically managing the amount of outdoor lighting in terms of duration 
and illuminated area. Ordinances that support appropriate lighting levels will specify 

municipalities use illumination guidelines established by the Illuminating Engineering 
 to set lighting levels in their ordinances. In addition municipalities will 

remove lights no longer in use or needed. Note that International Dark Sky Association  

• Lumens are a measurement unit of the brightness from a light source.
• Clutter is excessive groupings of light sources that create a bright and confusing 

environment.
• Reflection off of what is being illuminated causes light to be redirected back into 

help improve lighting levels.

Generally, use 
lighting where it’s 
needed, when it’s 
needed, and only as 
bright as needed. 

DARK SKY LIGHTING BASICS: THE “THREE-LEGGED STOOL”

UNSHIELDED PARTIALLY SHIELDED  FULLY SHIELDED

1. LIGHTING SHIELDING

2. APPROPRIATE LIGHTING LEVELS

SH
IE

LD
IN

G COLOR

LIGHTING LEVELS



DARK SKY ASSESSMENT GUIDE

4

blue spectrum lights brighten the night sky 
more than amber colored light and researchers 
are beginning to connect blue light spectrum 
to negative health effects in people and greater 
problems for wildlife. IDA recommends using long-
wavelength lighting with a color temperature of  
< 3000 Kelvins.

• Kelvins are a measurement unit for light’s 
warmness or coolness.

• Color Spectrum refers to the portion of the 
electromagnetic spectrum that is visible to 
the human eye.

WARM SPECTRUM

3. LIGHTING COLOR

COOL SPECTRUM

3000 K

NOTES

ESSENTIAL TAKEAWAYS
 LIGHT ONLY WHAT YOU NEED:

Be strategic with lighting and only use it where needed. 
 LIGHT ONLY WHEN YOU NEED:

not in use.
 LIGHT ONLY HOW MUCH YOU NEED: Use the right amount 

of light. Save electricity by using the lowest adequate 

and can be costly.
 LIGHT ONLY HOW YOU NEED: Use long-wavelength 

a variety of negative effects.



DARK SKY ASSESSMENT GUIDE

5

ACCEPTABLE LIGHTING TYPES
.



CONDUCTING A FORMAL LIGHTING AUDIT

DARK SKY ASSESSMENT GUIDE

6

BASIC LIGHTING AUDIT GUIDELINES

 
 Model and manufacturer of lighting system to obtain existing photometrics 

 
 

 
space. Are there are special visual requirements?

 Observe how the lighting system is controlled and how often it is used.
 
 Measure the physical layout of the existing lighting system and take note 

of height and spacing.
 

measurements.

commitment to a brightness measurement program. The brightness measurement program can be maintained either by the community 

lighting audit should be performed to establish a baseline for monitoring success.

basic guidlines.

There are different ways to log your lighting audit information. One simple way is to record the information on a spreadsheet. The following is an 
Some data points can be captured during the day 

while other data points will require a nighttime visit.

EXAMPLE LIGHTING AUDIT LOG

FIXTURE/LENSES LAMP

ITEM 
NUMBER

AGE LAMP 
TYPE

AGE SYSTEM 
WATTAGE

MODEL 
NUMBER

SHIELDING

A lighting audit 
provides benchmarks 
for determining 
the effectiveness 
of lighting 
improvements and 
energy savings.

THE FOLLOWING ITEMS ARE RECOMMENDED FOR CONSIDERATION:



DARK SKY ASSESSMENT GUIDE

7

 Area
 
 Pathway
 Parking
 Roadway
 Sign
 Stairway
 Other

 
 
 

Lens
 Partially Shielded Eve
 Partially Shielded 

 Partially Shielded 
Lamp Lens

 Unshielded
 Yes
 No

 Barn
 Bollard
 
 
 
 Hanging Light
 Lamp Post
 Phone Booth
 Recessed
 Spotlight
 Tin Hat
 Tube
 
 Wall Pack 
 Wall Sconce
 Other

 Solar
 Utility
 Other

 Motion Sensor
 None
 Photocell
 Switch
 Timer Switch
 Other

 
 Empty Socket
 
 Halogen
 HPS
 Incandescent
 Induction
 LED
 LPS
 
 Metal Halide
 Other

 Yes
 No

DAYTIME VISIT NIGHTTIME VISIT

MITIGATION

ADDITIONAL NOTES

EXAMPLE LIGHTING AUDIT WORKSHEET



DARK SKY ASSESSMENT GUIDE

8

A wide variety of Iphone and Android apps can be used to take night sky brightness 
 can capture a 

comprehensive set of geographic data points.

SKY QUALITY METER with 

contact a dark sky expert for help. Below is a list of basic apps to get you started.

DIFFERENT ASSESSMENT TOOLS

(520) 293-3198
http://www.darksky.org

(435) 260-8540
https://cpdarkskies.org/
darkskycooperative@gmail.com

(435) 260-8540
http://www.darkskystudies.org/
goldsmith@arch.utah.edu

WHO CAN I CONTACT FOR HELP WITH A FORMAL AUDIT?

SKYGLOW
SKY QUALITY METER

DARK SKY METER APP

DATA COLLECTION

 Shielding

 

 Lamp type

 

 

 

MOBILE APPS AND RESOURCES

USE TECHNOLOGY NOTES



 Retail/Commercial 
 

 

 

Civic Buildings 
 

 
 

Streets  

 

 

   Parks & Rec  
        Parking Lots 

 

 

Lig
ht

ed
 S

ig
ns

  
 

 
 

O
th

er
  

 

 

 

Residential   

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

DARK SKY ASSESSMENT GUIDE

can be gained from talking to people on an individual level and addressing their concerns. Make an effort to talk to neighbors and friends about 

PUBLIC ENGAGEMENT & EDUCATION

QUICK QUESTIONS
Is preserving dark skies important to you? 

Would you support simple changes to limit light pollution?

What concerns do you have?

2 MINUTE SURVEYS...
Ask residents and business owners about their experience with light pollution. As you survey people educate them about basic light pollution 
concepts and issues. Why should they care?

9

LIGHTING ISSUE CONCERNS & LAND USE

RESIDENTIAL

RETAIL

CIVIC BUILDINGS

STREETS
Street lighting

PARKS & REC

PARKING LOTS
Lighted parking lots

LIGHTED SIGNS

OTHER

Shielding

EDUCATE
Briefly explain why light pollution is an issue.

Describe why preserving the night sky is important to you.

pollution.

OPTIONAL “ISSUE” COLOR CODING



Residential 1
Residential 2
Commercial
Open Space

STAR CITY USA

Main Street lighting is 

not shielded between 
1st and 3rd

Cluster of blue 
light fixtures at 

the corner of 4th 
and Main

random street light on the edge of town
problems with glare, color, and shielding at the park

lighting is fully 
shielded and 

amber colored

DARK SKY ASSESSMENT GUIDE

TAKING NIGHT PHOTOS

MARKING A MAP

IDEAS FOR WHAT TO MARK

Unshielded lighting

Unnecessary lighting

Good lighting

map of your community can be used to document sources 

lighting.

assessment may include just publicly owned lighting or all 

The scale and amount of detail are up to the community. 

Marked lighting issues should relate to the “three-legged 

Marking lighting issues on a map can help identify and document spatial clusters and provide a reference for others. 

10

The following are helpful guides on settings for taking certain types of 

be adjustable on the manual mode for any DSLR camera.

• DSLR 
versatile cameras with changeable lenses that produce high-
quality photos.

SHUTTER APERTURE ISO FLASH

SIGNS 100 N

CITY SCAPE 100 N

BRIDGES 100 N

STREET 320 Y

MONUMENTS 15 250 Y

LIFE 6 100 Y

THE MILKY WAY 20+ 1600 N

UNSHIELDED

SHIELDED

Documenting light pollution is an important way for educating the public 
on the actual situation and to support a case for improved lighting. 

NIGHT PHOTO GUIDELINES



DARK SKY ASSESSMENT GUIDE

11

estimation for prospective lighting replacements is an effective way to illustrate cost savings.

BACK TO THE BASICS
• W (watt)
• Wh (watt hour) a unit of energy equal to the power of 1 watt operating for 1 hour
• kW (kilowatt)
• kWh (kilowatt hour) a measure of electrical energy equivalent to a power consumption of 

• Luminaire

1.     

2.     

3.   

TOTAL POWER
LUMINAIRE WATTAGE LAMPS

TOTALTOTAL ENERGY ENERGY
RATE

TOTAL ENERGY
TOTAL POWER

SYSTEM LUMINAIRE PER DAY PER WEEK PER YEAR

W    x lamps   = W

W    x

ENERGY POWER TIME

IN A NUTSHELL...
= x

CALCULATE THE SAVINGS

LIGHTING POWER & ENERGY USE ESTIMATION



DARK SKY ASSESSMENT GUIDE
What you do after your dark sky assessment is almost as important as the assessment itself. Depending 

12

NOW WHAT? AFTER YOUR DARK SKY ASSESSMENT

 Hold a post-assessment meeting with all assessors.
 
 Brainstorm and record suggestions for changes and improvements. Develop 

 Invite participants to be involved in your project and identify how they will be 
committed.

 Thank everyone for their participation and outline next steps. 

 Educate yourself on the various aspects of light pollution. 
 Develop a core working group to support the initiative.
 Build awareness and education through local media and social media.
 

outdoor lighting.
 

 

 Individually approach town leadership to get a feel for local support. 
 

about protecting the rural environment and quality of life.
 

tourism. 

 
 Gauge the level of willingness of local leadership to take action. 
 
 

 

 
 

changes to town code.
 

projects.
 Build critical mass—get the word out! Notify and continually engage and invite 

NOTES

IDA DARK SKY COMMUNITY

exceptional dedication to the preservation of 
the night sky through the implementation and 

skies.

make a decision in an average of one-to-two 
years from the initial request. 

Requirements that must be maintained:
 Quality comprehensive lighting code
 
 Broad support from community 

 
on dark skies

 Success in light pollution control
 A continuing sky brightness 

measurement program



DARK SKY ASSESSMENT GUIDE

13

GENERAL
International Dark Sky Association: 

Interactive light pollution mapping tool: 

Watts-to-lumens free calculator: 
Sensible outdoor lighting: 

How to carry out a dark sky survey: 
Astronomy,

RECREATION LIGHTING

temp. 

temp.

FLAG LIGHTING

TOWER LIGHTING

ILLUMINATION STANDARDS

OCT 2017

ADDITIONAL RESOURCES



 

New Fairview Ordinances Outdoor Lighting doc  Page 1 

 
      
 

 
 

 , the City of New Fairview, Texas, is a Type A general law municipality 
located in ise and Denton Counties, created in accordance with Chapter  of the Local 

overnment Code, and operating pursuant to the enabling legislation of the State of Texas  and 
 
 , the City Council of the City of New Fairview finds it necessary for the 
public health, safety and welfare that new standards for outdoor lighting be adopted  and 
 

the City Council of the City of New Fairview finds it necessary to reduce 
light pollution so that the nighttime environment may be improved for astronomy  and 

 
 the City Council of the City of New Fairview finds it necessary to reduce 

the effects of light pollution on wildlife and fauna within the city  and 
 

  the City Council of the City of New Fairview finds it necessary to limit the 
threat of public safety caused by light pollution, such as glare  and 
 
  the City Council of the City of New Fairview finds it necessary to prevent 
future development from taking the night skies away from the residents of New Fairview via 
increased light pollution levels  
 
  the City Council of the City of New Fairview desires to be a dark-sky 
community to retain a rural feel throughout the city regardless of future developments. 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 That all matters stated in the preamble are found to be true and correct and are incorporated 
herein as if copied in their entirety. 
 
 

 
 

That Chapter ,  Planning  Development Regulations  xhibit B, Article   oning 



 

New Fairview Ordinances Outdoor Lighting doc  Page 2 

Districts , Outdoor Lighting , Sections -  through -  of the City of New Fairview 
Code of Ordinances, as amended, is hereby amended as follows  
 
C APT R  PLANNIN   D LOP NT R LATIONS 
 

IBIT B ONIN  ORDINANC   
 
ARTICL   ONIN  DISTRICTS  

 
Accent lighting. Lighting used to emphasize or draw attention to a special ob ect or building. 
 
Adaptive Controls. Devices such as motion sensors, timers and dimmers used in concert with 
outdoor lighting e uipment to vary the intensity or duration of operation of lighting. 
 
Advertising searchlight. An outdoor advertising device used to direct beams of light upward. 
Ambient light. The general overall level of lighting in an area. 
 
Brightness. Strength of the sensation that results from viewing surfaces from which the light 
comes to the eye. 
 
Bulb or lamp. The source of electric light. To be distinguished from the whole assembly  see 
luminaire . Lamp often is used to denote the bulb and its housing. 
 
Candela ( cd). nit of luminous intensity. One candela is one lumen per steradian. Formerly 
called the candle. 
 
Candlepower. Luminous intensity expressed in candelas. 
 
Candlepower distribution curve. A plot of the variation in luminous intensity of a lamp or 
luminaire. 
 
Commission Internationale de 1' Eclairage (CIE). The International Commission on Illumination. 
Sets most lighting standards. 
 
Coefficient of Utilization (CU). Ratio of luminous flux lumens  from a luminaire received on the 
work plane   the area where the light is needed  to the lumens emitted by the luminaire. 
 
Color Rendering Index (CRI). A measure of the accuracy with which a light source of a 
particular CCT renders different colors in comparison to a reference light source with the same 
CCT under normal daylighting. A high CRI provides better illumination with the same or lower 
lighting levels. 
 
Compact fluorescent. A discharge lamp having a coating of fluorescent material on its inner 
surface and containing mercury vapor whose bombardment by electrons from the cathode 



 

New Fairview Ordinances Outdoor Lighting doc  Page  

provides ultraviolet light which causes the material to emit visible light. 
 
Correlated Color Temperature (CCT). A measure in degrees elvin   of light' s warmness or 
coolness. Lamps with a CCT of less than , 200  are pinkish and considered warm. Lamps with 
a CCT greater than ,000  are bluish white and considered cool. 
 
Cosine law. Illuminance on a surface varies as the cosine of the angle of incidence of the light. 
The inverse s uare law and the cosine law can be combined. 
 
Cut off angle, ofa luminaire. The angle, measured up from the nadir  i.e. straight down , 
between the vertical axis and the first line of sight at which the bare source  the bulb or lamp  is 
not visible. 
 
Cutoff Fixture. An I S definition  Intensity at or above 0   horizontal  no more than 2.  of 
lamp lumens, and no more than 10  of lamp lumens at or above 0 . 
 
Dark adaptation. The process by which the eye becomes adapted to a luminance less than about 
0. 0  candela per s uare meter  0. 01 footlambert . 
 
Diffuser. A device used to distribute light from a source. 
 
Dimmer. Dimmers can reduce the input power re uirements and the rated lumen output levels of 
in- candescent and fluorescent lights. Fluorescent lights need special dimming ballasts. Dimming 
Incandescent lights reduces their efficiency. 
 
Disability glare. lare resulting in reduced visual performance and visibility. It is often 
accompanied by discomfort. 
 
Discomfort glare. lare that produces discomfort, but does not necessarily diminish visual 
performance. 
 
Efficacy. The ratio of light output to its consumption of power, measured in lumens per watt 
hn/ , or the ability of a lighting system to produce the desired result. 
 
Efficiency. A measure of the effective or useful output of a system compared to the input of the 
system. 
 
Energy (radiant energy). nit is erg, or oule, or k h. 
 
Fagade lighting. The illumination of the exterior of a building. 
 
Fixture. The assembly that holds the lamp in a lighting system. It includes the elements designed 
to give light output control, such as a reflector  mirror  or refractor  lens , the ballast, housing, 
and the attachment parts. 
 
Fixture Lumens. A light fixture' s light output after processing of emitted light by optics in that 



 

New Fairview Ordinances Outdoor Lighting doc  Page  

fixture. 
 
Fixture Watts. The total power consumed by a fixture. This includes the power consumed by the 
lamp s  and ballast s . 
 
Floodlight. A fixture designed to  flood  a well defined area with light. 
 
Flux (radiant flux). nit is erg/ sec or watts. 
 
Footcandle. Illuminance produced on a surface one foot from a uniform point source of one 
candela. A footcandle is e ual to one lumen per s uare foot. 
 
Foodambert. The average luminance of a surface emitting or reflecting light at a rate of one 
lumen per s uare foot. 
 
Full-cutoff fixture. An I S definition   ero intensity at or above horizontal  0  above nadir  
and limited to a value not exceeding 10  of lamp lumens at or above 0 . 
 
Fully shielded. A luminary constructed or shielded in such a manner that all light emitted by the 
luminary either directly from the lamp or indirectly from the luminary, is pro ected below the 
horizontal plane through the luminary' s lowest light emitting part as determined by photometric 
test or certified by the manufacturer. 
 
Glare. Direct lighting emitted from a luminary that causes reduced vision or temporary 
blindness. Intense and blinding light that reduces visibility. A light within the field of vision that 
is brighter than the brightness to which the eyes are adapted. 
 
Halogen lamp. A specialized type of incandescent lamp which has a significantly hotter filament 
than conventional incandescent lights. Rather than filling the bulb with an inert gas, the halogen 
bulbs use a highly reactive element. The resulting reaction produces a significantly brighter light 
and at extremely high temperatures. 
 
HID lamp. In a discharge lamp, the emitted energy light  is produced by the passage of an 
electric current through a gas. igh- intensity discharge ID  include mercury, metal halide, and 
high pressure sodium lamps. Other discharge lamps are LPS and fluorescent. Some such lamps 
have internal coatings to convert some of the ultraviolet energy emitted by the gas discharge into 
visual output. 
 
High pressure sodium (HPS). A high intensity discharge lamp where radiation is produced from 
sodium vapor at relatively high partial pressures 100 torr . BPS is essentially point source light. 
 
Horizontal plane. A line horizontal to the lowest point on the fixture from which light is emitted. 
 
House- side shield. Opa ue material applied to a fixture to block the light from illuminating a 
residence or other structure being protected from light trespass. 
 



 

New Fairview Ordinances Outdoor Lighting doc  Page  

Illuminance. Density of luminous flux incident on a surface. nit is footcandle or lux. 
 
Illuminating Engineering Society of North America (IES or IESNA). the professional society of 
lighting engineers, including those from manufacturing companies, and others professionally 
involved in lighting. 
 
Incandescent lamp. Any lamp that produces light by heating a filament through use of an electric 
current. 
 
Infrared radiation. lectromagnetic radiation with longer wavelengths than those of visible light, 
extending from the nominal red edge of the visible spectrum at 700 nanometers to 1 mm. 
 
Intensity. the degree or amount of energy or light. 
 
Internally Illuminated Architecture. Any architectural element including walls or portions of 
buildings that is internally illuminated and that is not a sign, windows, or doors. 
 
International Dark-Sky Association ( IDA, Inc.). A non-profit organization whose goals are to 
build awareness of the value of dark skies, and of the need for uality outdoor lighting. 
 
Inverse-square law. The illuminance at a point varies directly with the intensity, I, of a point 
source and inversely as the s uare of the distance, d, to the source.  I/ d2 
 
kWh: Kilowatt-hour. A unit of energy e ual to the work done by one kilowatt  1000 watts  of 
power acting for one hour. 
 
Lamp Life. The average lifespan for a specific type of lamp. alf of lamps will perform longer 
than the average  the others will fail before the average. 
 
LED. Light emitting diode. A semiconductor device that emits visible light when an electric 
current passes through it. 
 
LED, Narrow-Spectrum(Band) Amber. A light emitting diode  L D  with a peak wavelength 
between  and  nanometers and a full width at 0 percent power no greater than 1  
nanometers. 
 
Light Pollution. Any adverse effect of artificial light. 
 
Light Quality. A measurement of a person' s comfort and perception based on the lighting. 
 
Light source. A device such as a lamp  which produces visible energy as distinguished from 
devices or bodies which reflect or transmit light such as a luminary. 
 
Light Spill. The unwanted spillage of light onto ad acent areas and may affect sensitive receptors 
particularly residential properties and ecological sites. 
 



 

New Fairview Ordinances Outdoor Lighting doc  Page  

Light Trespass. The light from an artificial light source that is intruding into an area where it is 
not wanted or does not belong. 
 
Lighting Controls. The devices used for either turning lights on and off or for dimming. 
Photocells Sensors that turn lights on and off in response to natural light levels. Some advanced 
mode can slowly dim or increase the lighting. 
 
Low-Pressure Sodium (EPS) lamp. A discharge lamp where the light is produced by radiation 
from sodium vapor at a relatively low partial pressure  about 0. 001 torr . LPS is a  tube source . 
It is monochromatic light. 
 
Lumen. A unit of luminous flux  the flux emitted within a unit solid angle by a point source with 
a uniform luminous intensity of one candela. 
 
Lumen depreciation factor. The light loss of a luminaire with time due to the lamp decreasing in 
efficiency, dirt accumulation, and any other factors that lower the effective output with time. 
 
Luminaire. A complete lighting unit that usually includes the fixture, ballasts, and lamps. 
 
Luminaire Efficiency. The ratio of the light emitted by the luminaire compared to the light 
emitted by the enclosed lamps. 
 
Luminance. At a point and in a given direction, the luminous intensity in the given direction 
produced by an element of the surface surrounding the point divided by the area of the pro ection 
of the element on a plane perpendicular to the given direction. nits  candelas per unit area. 
 
Luminary. A device or fixture containing a light source and means for directing and controlling 
the distribution of light from the source. 
 
Lux. One lumen per s uare meter. nit of illuminance. 
 
Mercury lamp. A high intensity discharge lamp where light is produced by radiation from 
mercury vapor. 
 
Metal halide lamp. A high intensity discharge lamp where light is produced by radiation from 
metal halide vapor. 
 
Nadir. A point on the celestial sphere directly below the observer, diametrically opposite the 
zenith. 
 
Nanometer (nm). 10  meter. Often used as the unit for wavelength in the  spectrum. 
 
Nonessential lighting. Lighting that is not re uired to ensure the security, safety and the general 
welfare of the public and the premises. 
 
Occupancy Sensors, Passive Infrared. A lighting control system that uses infrared beams to 



 

New Fairview Ordinances Outdoor Lighting doc  Page 7 

sense motion. hen beams of infrared light are interrupted by movement, the sensor turns on the 
lighting system. If no movement is sensed after a predetermined period, the system turns the 
lights off. 
 
Occupancy Sensors, Ultrasonic. A lighting control system using high fre uency sound waves 
pulsed through a space to detect movement by depth perception. hen the fre uency ofthe 
sound waves change, the sensor turns on the lighting system. After a predetermined time with no 
movement, the system turns the lights off. 
 
Opaque. aterial must not transmit light from an internal illumination source. 
 
Optic. The components of a luminaire such as reflectors, refractors, protectors which make up 
the light emitting section. 
 
Outdoor Light Output, Total. The maximum total amount of light, measured in lumens, from all 
outdoor light fixtures. Includes all lights and luminous tubing used outdoors or in areas open to 
the outdoors, and lights used for external illumination of signs, but does not include lights used 
inside of internally illuminated signs or luminous tubing used in neon signs. For luminous tubes 
used outside of signage, output is calculated per linear foot of tubing rather than per lamp. For 
lamp types that vary in their output as they age  such as high pressure sodium, metal halide and 
fluorescent , the initial output, as defined by the lamp manufacturer, is the value to be 
considered. 
 
Partially Shielded. Shielding so that the lower edge of the shield is at or below the centerline of 
the light source or lamp so as to minimize light transmission above the horizontal plane, or at 
least 0 percent of the emitted light pro ects below the horizontal plane as evidenced by the 
manufacturer's photometric data. 
 
Photocell. An electronic device that changes the light output of a luminaire dynamically in 
response to the ambient light level around the luminaire. 
 
Photometry or Photometric. The uantitative measurement of light level and distribution. 
 
Quality of light. A sub ective ratio of the pluses to the minuses of any lighting installation. 
 
Reflector. An optic that achieves control of light by means of reflection  using mirrors . 
 
Refractor. An optic that achieves control of light by means of refraction  using lenses . 
 
Semi-cutoff fixture. An I S definition   Intensity at or above 0  horizontal  no more than  
of lamp lumens and no more than 20  at or above 0 . 
 
Shielding. An opa ue, physical structure intended to restrict the transmission of light. 
 
Skyglow. Diffuse, scattered sky light attributable to scattered light from sources on the ground. 
 



 

New Fairview Ordinances Outdoor Lighting doc  Page  

Source Intensity. This applies to each source in the potentially obtrusive direction, outside of the 
area being lit. 
 
Spill Light. Light emitted by the lighting installation that falls outside the boundaries of the 
property on which the installation is sited. 
 
Spotlight. A fixture designed to light only a small, well- defined area. 
 
Stray light. The emission of light that falls away from the area where it is needed or wanted. 
Light trespass. 
 
Task Lighting. Task lighting is used to provide direct light for specific activities without 
illuminating the entire area. 
 
Ultraviolet light. lectromagnetic radiation with wavelengths from 00 nun to 100 nun, shorter 
than that of visible light but longer than -rays. 
 
Uniformity ratio. A ratio of the smoothness of the lighting pattern or the degree of intensity of 
light or areas to be lighted. niformity is the ratio between the lowest and the mean illuminance 
level in the area to be evaluated u / . The lower the ratio the more uniform the 
lighting design. 
 
Value measurement, maximum. The measurement of light measured horizontal to the ground and 
three feet from the ground and directly beneath the light source. 
 
Value measurement, minimum. The measurement of light measured horizontal to the ground and 
three feet from the ground and midway between light sources. inimum values are also the 
measurements taken for inside structure measurements or in areas of generally uniform coverage 
such as canopies, ballfields, tennis courts, etc. 
 
Veiling luminance. A luminance produced by bright sources in the field-of-view superimposed 
on the image in the eye reducing contrast and hence visibility. 
 
Visibility. Being perceived by the eye. Seeing effectively. The goal of night lighting. 
 
Wallpack. A luminaire, typically affixed to the side of a structure, used for area lighting. 
 
Watt. The unit used to measure the electrical power consumption of a lamp. 
 

 
This ordinance is intended to establish procedures and standards that which will minimize light 
pollution glare, light trespass, and conserve energy and maintain the uality of the city s rural 
aesthetic  feel   while promoting the best practices as established by the Illuminating 

ngineering Society of North America I SNA  and the International Dark Sky Association 
IDA . The use of outdoor lighting is often necessary for ade uate nighttime safety and utility, but 



 

New Fairview Ordinances Outdoor Lighting doc  Page  

common lighting practices can also interfere with other legitimate public concerns. Principles 
among these are  
 

a  Degradation of the nighttime visual environment by production of unsightly and 
dangerous glare  and 
 
b  Lighting practices that interfere with the health and safety of New Fairview's citizens 
and visitors  and 
 
c  nnecessary waste of energy and resources in the production of too much light or 
wasted light  and 
 
d  Interference in the use or en oyment of property that is not intended to be illuminated 
at night by light trespass, and the loss of the scenic view of the night sky due to increased 
urban sky- glow  and 
 
e  The impact of inappropriately designed outdoor lighting that disrupts nocturnal animal 
behavior, particularly migrating birds and other species. 

 
 

All outdoor electrically powered illuminating devices shall be installed in conformance with the 
provisions of this division, the building code and the electrical code of the town as applicable 
and under appropriate permit and inspection. xcept as approved otherwise by the City 
Council, these performance standards shall apply to all zoning districts in the town. This 
ordinance shall apply to all outdoor lighting including, but not limited to, search, spot or 
floodlights for  
 
a  Buildings and structures  
 
b  Recreational use lighting  
 
c  Parking lot lighting  
 
d  Landscape lighting  
 
e  Street and/or right-of-way lighting  
 
f  Other outdoor lighting. 
 

 
a  Plan Submittal. An outdoor lighting plan must be submitted separately from any re uired site 
plan or landscape plan on all public or private properties, including rights-of-way, public 
easements, franchises and utility easements. The outdoor lighting plan shall be submitted 



 

New Fairview Ordinances Outdoor Lighting doc  Page 10 

prior to issuing a building permit. 

 
b  Applications. Plans shall include the following  
 

1  A site plan of the proposed fixture locations  
 
2  The luminous area for each proposed light source with photometrics in foot-candle 
measurement  
 

 The average lighting level of the development  
 

 The lamp type and height of the light fixture or ofthe light source above grade  
 

 The type of illumination  
 

 The cut-off angles of each fixtures  
 
7  The number of lumens and wattage of each fixture  
 

 Color correlated temperature of each fixture measured in elvins as shown in 

 A plan to manage glow and glare on the outside of the structure by lighting produced 
by interior lights. The plan shall include descriptions of window shading, window 
tinting, structural screening, and operational arrangement of interior lights. 
 
10  Such other information that the City anager or their designee s  may 
determine is necessary to ensure compliance with this division. 

 
c  Plan Approval. If The City anager or their designee s  determines that any proposed 
lighting does not comply with this division, the permit shall not be issued nor the plan 
approved. Appeals may be made to the City Council by the following the provisions of 
Section . 
 
d) Lamp or Fixture Substitution. Should any outdoor light fixture or the type of light source 
therein be changed after the permit has been issued, a change re uest must be submitted to 
the City anager or their designee s  for approval, together with ade uate information to 
assure compliance with this division, which must be received prior to substitution. 
 
e  Certification of Installation. On pro ects where an engineer or architect is re uired, the 
developer shall verify in writing to the City that all outdoor lighting was installed in 
accordance with the approved plans before the Certificate of Occupancy is issued. ntil this 
certification is submitted, approval for use of a Certificate of Occupancy shall not be issued 



 

New Fairview Ordinances Outdoor Lighting doc  Page 11 

for the pro ect. 
 
f  Record Drawings. In addition to the certificate of installation, a record drawing of the 
outdoor lighting plan, as- built, shall be provided upon completion of a development or 
pro ect where any outdoor lighting was used by the architect or engineer of record. 
 

a  Preferred Source. Due to their high energy, long life, and spectral characteristics, Low-Pressure 
Sodium LPS  lamps and Narrow- band amber L Ds NBAL D  are the preferred 
illumination source throughout the City. Their use is to be encouraged, when not re uired, 
for outdoor illumination whenever their use would not be detrimental to the use of the property. In 
all applications where LPS lighting is re uired or preferred, an acceptable alternative is narrow-
band amber L Ds. 
 
b  Height of Fixtures. Lighting fixtures shall be a maximum of 1  feet in height for street 
lighting, right-of-ways, parking areas, and nonresidential zoning districts. Lighting fixtures 
shall be a maximum of  feet in height within non-vehicular pedestrian areas. Lighting 
fixtures within residential districts shall be no more than 12 feet in height and no light 
fixtures located within 0 feet of any residential district shall exceed 12 feet in height. 
Lighting fixtures affixed to signalized intersection shall be no more than 20 feet in height. 
 
c  Light Emitting Diodes ( LEDs). All L D lighting shall be dimmable and comport to all 
provisions of this division, unless specified otherwise. The following are preferred options 
for L D types in use with outdoor lighting  
 

1  Narrow-band amber L D NBAL D  
 
2  Phosphor-converted amber PCAL D  
 

 Filter warm-white L D FL D  
 

d  Lighting Temperature. All lighting must be less than 000 elvins  per the correlated 
color temperature in 



New Fairview Ordinances Outdoor Lighting doc  Page 12

e  Lighting Control Requirements. 

1  Automatic Switching Requirements. Controls shall be provided that automatically 
extinguish all outdoor lighting when sufficient daylight is available using a control device 
or system such as a photoelectric switch, astronomic time switch or e uivalent functions 
from a programmable lighting controller, building automation system or lighting energy 
management system, all with battery or similar backup power or device. 
 
2  Motion Sensing. otion sensing light fixtures shall be fully shielded and properly 
ad usted, according to the manufacturer' s instruction, to turn off when detected 
motion ceases. 
 

 Dimmable Lighting. here possible, all outdoor lighting shall contain a dimmable 
option that comports with the standards of this division. 

 
f  Lamp and Shielding. All light fixtures are re uired to be fully shielded and shall be installed 
in such a manner that the shielding complies with the definition of fully shielded light 
fixtures for all uses, including single-family, except as provided in
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



New Fairview Ordinances Outdoor Lighting doc  Page 1

 



New Fairview Ordinances Outdoor Lighting doc  Page 1



New Fairview Ordinances Outdoor Lighting doc  Page 1

 

g  Total Outdoor Light Output. Light emitted from outdoor lighting is to be included in the total 
outdoor light output. Total outdoor light output shall not exceed 100,000 lumens per net acre 
for all nonresidential uses. Residential uses are evaluated on a per lot basis. Total outdoor 
light output shall be calculated as follows  

1  Light fixtures installed as described below shall be included in the total outdoor light 
output by adding 100 percent of the initial lumen outputs of the lamps used  

a. All unshielded or partially shielded fixtures, regardless of location. Light fixtures 
installed on poles such as parking lot light fixtures  
c. Light fixtures installed on the side of buildings or other structures but not located 



 

New Fairview Ordinances Outdoor Lighting doc  Page 1  

as described in paragraphs 2  or . below  and 
 
d. Light fixtures installed within open parking garages, or under canopies, building 
overhangs, or roof eaves that are not fully shielded or are fully shielded but not 
located as described in paragraphs 2  or  below. 
 

2  Fully shielded light fixtures installed as described below shall be included in the total 
outdoor light output by adding only 2  percent 2  of the initial lumen outputs of the 
lamps used  
 

a. Fully shielded light fixtures located within open parking garages, or located 
under canopies, building overhangs, or roof eaves, where all parts of the light 
fixture are located at least five feet but less than 10 feet from the nearest outdoor 
opening, canopy, or overhang edge. 
 

 Fully shielded light fixtures installed as described below shall be included in the total 
outdoor light output by adding only 10 percent 10  of the initial lumen outputs of the 
lamps used  
 

a. Fully shielded light fixtures located within open parking garages, or located 
under canopies, building overhangs, or roof eaves, where all parts of the light 
fixture are located 10 feet or more from the nearest outdoor opening, canopy, or 
overhang edge. 

 
 



New Fairview Ordinances Outdoor Lighting doc  Page 17

 
 
 



 

New Fairview Ordinances Outdoor Lighting doc  Page 1  

g  Time Limits for Outdoor Lighting. All outdoor lighting shall be turned off at the times listed 
below. Decorative holiday lights are exempt in accordance with the regulations outlined in 
this division. 
 

1  Nonresidential. All nonessential lighting shall be turned off no later than thirty 0  
minutes after the business closes or after 11 00 p.m., whichever is later, and remain 
off for the remainder of the night or until the business reopens, leaving only necessary 
lighting for site security. 
 
2  Residential. All nonessential lights exceeding 2  lumens shall be turned off after 
11 00 p.m., leaving only necessary lighting for site security. 
 

 Recreational Facilities. All events shall be scheduled so as to complete all activity 
before or as near to 10 0 p.m. as practical, but under no circumstances shall any 
illumination of the playing field, court, or track be permitted after 11 00 p.m. except 
to conclude a scheduled event that was in progress before 11 00 p.m. and 
circumstances prevented concluding before 11 00 p.m. 

 
h  Sign Illumination. Standards for external and internal sign illumination are sub ect to the 
provisions in Chapter 70 - Signs of the code of ordinances. Light used for illumination of 
signs is included toward the total outdoor light output standards of this division. 
 

a  Illumination. nless otherwise provided in this division, illumination, where re uired by this 
division, shall have intensities and uniformity ratios in accordance with the current 
recommended practices of the Illuminating ngineering Society of North America I SNA  
as from time to time amended and the International Dark-Sky Association IDA . 
 
b  Measurement. Illumination levels of outdoor lighting shall be measured by a ualified 
professional according to generally accepted Illuminating ngineering Society of North America 
methods. 
 

1  Meter Required. Lighting levels of outdoor lighting shall be measured in foot-candles 
with a direct reading portable light meter with a color and cosine corrected sensor 
with multiple scales. The meter shall read within an accuracy of plus or minus five percent. 
 
2  Horizontal Method ofMeasurement. The meter sensor shall be mounted not more 
than six inches above ground level in a horizontal position. Readings shall be taken 
only after the cell has been exposed to provide a constant reading. 

 
c  Computation of illumination. Illumination at a point may be computed in lieu of 
measurement. Computation methods shall consist of a generally accepted Illuminating 

ngineering Society of North America method, using certified photometric data furnished by 
the fixture manufacturer, lamp manufacturer, photometric laboratory, or other reliable 
authority satisfactory to the town. Computations shall be based on new, properly seasoned 



New Fairview Ordinances Outdoor Lighting doc  Page 1

lamps, diffusers and other appurtenances in place, and with proper regard taken for mounting 
height, relative elevation, natural and manmade ob ects. 

d  Light Trespass Standard. No use or operation in any district shall be located or conducted so 
as to produce glare, or either direct or indirect illumination across the bounding property line 
from a source of illumination into a residentially zoned property, nor shall any such light be 
of such intensity as to create a nuisance or detract from the use and en oyment of ad acent 
property. For the purposes of this section, a nuisance shall be defined as more that one-tenth 
of one footcandles of light measured at the residential property line and twenty-five 
hundredths of one footcandles at any ad oining nonresidential property line  
 
 

 
e  Lumens. Brightness of a light fixture shall be measured in lumens. here applicants may 
need to measure e uivalency of lumens and watts, Table  below shall be used. here a 
ratio is not listed in the table, the best practices as prescribed by the I SNA shall apply  
 
 
 



New Fairview Ordinances Outdoor Lighting doc  Page 20

a  Security Lighting. 

1  nless otherwise provided in this division, all building lighting for security will be fully 
shielded type, not allowing any upward distribution of light. allpack type fixtures are 
acceptable only if they are fully shielded with 0- degree cut-off and shall not pro ect 
above the fascia or roof line of the building. 

2  Security fixtures shall not face residential uses. 

 Security fixtures shall not be substituted for parking area or walkway lighting and shall 
be restricted to loading, storage, service and similar locations. 

b  Canopy Area Lighting. 

1  Shielding. All development that incorporates a canopy type area including, but not 
limited to, service stations, automated teller machines, awnings, arcades, porte-cochere 
or similar installations shall use a recessed lens cover flush with the bottom surface of 
the canopy that provides a cutoff or shielded light distribution. Such shielding must be 
provided by the fixture itself and shielding by surrounding structures such as canopy 
edges is not permitted. Lighting along the canopy edge, side or roof is not permitted. 
 
2  Total Under-Canopy Output. The total light output used under service station canopies, 
defined as the sum of all under-canopy initial lamp outputs in lumens, shall not exceed 
0 lumens per s uare foot of canopy and comply with the average lighting levels of Table 

2. 
 

 
 

 All lighting mounted under the canopy, including but not limited to light fixtures 
mounted on or recessed into the lower surface of the canopy and any lighting within 
signage but not including any lamps mounted within the pumps and used to illuminate 
information indicating the total cost of such items as fuel pumped and price per gallon , 
shall be included in the total outdoor light output for the site and is sub ect to the 
standards of this division. 

 
c  Entrances and Exits. All entrances and exits to buildings used for nonresidential purposes 
and open to the general public, along with all entrances and exits in multifamily residential 
buildings, shall be lighted to ensure the safety of persons and the security of the building. All 
lighting shall conform to average lighting levels of 
 
d  Parking Lots, Garages and Loading Area Lighting. 



 

New Fairview Ordinances Outdoor Lighting doc  Page 21 

 
1  All lighting facilities shall be arranged as to reflect the illumination away from any 
ad acent property. Such lighting facilities shall provide illumination within parking 
areas and shall distribute not more than one-fifth 0.20fc  of a foot-candle of light upon 
any ad acent residential property. 
 
2  Parking lots and vehicle movement areas shall not exceed a maximum illumination 
value of five foot-candles . 0fc  or a minimum illumination value of one- fourth 
0.2 fc  foot-candle. Lamps in decorative lantern type fixtures shall not exceed a 

maximum of 1, 00 lumens. Total pole and fixture height shall not exceed a maximum 
of 1  feet, measured from grade at the base. 
 

 All lighting facilities shall be placed, masked or otherwise arranged such that 
illumination or glare shall not intrude on residential property or create a hazard to 
motorists on any street, alley or other public or private right-of-way. 
 

 All light fixtures used on open parking garages, including those mounted to the ceilings 
over the parking decks, shall be fully shielded. 
 

 The lumen output of lamps mounted on or within open parking garages shall be 
included toward the total outdoor light output standards of this division. 

 
e  Outdoor Recreational Facilities. Any light source permitted by this division may be used for 
lighting of outdoor recreational facilities public or private , such as, but not limited to, 
football fields, soccer fields, baseball fields, softball fields, tennis courts, driving ranges, outdoor 
arenas and amphitheaters, show areas, or other field recreation facilities and are sub ect to the 
following conditions  

1  Illumination. Any illumination level exceeding a maximum of ten foot-candles  10. 0fc  
must receive prior approval by the Council. 
 
2  Shielding. All fixtures used for event lighting shall be fully shielded, or be designed or 
provided with sharp cut- off capability, so as to minimize up light, spill-light, and glare. 
 

 Time Limits. No illuminated sports facility shall be illuminated after the time limits 
outlined in this division, except to conclude a scheduled recreational or sporting event 
in progress prior to the time limitation. 

 
f  Street Lighting. 
 

1  Standards for street lighting installed on public rights-of-way must conform to the Town 
ngineering Standards and the Town' s Comprehensive Plan and the standards of this 

division. 
 
2  Street lighting installed on private rights-of-way shall be included within the total 
outdoor light output for the development. 
 



 

New Fairview Ordinances Outdoor Lighting doc  Page 22 

 Streetlights for both public and private right-of-ways are not exempt from the 
provisions of this division. 

 
g  Internally Illuminated Architectural Elements. Any architectural element including walls or 
portions of buildings that are internally illuminated and that is not a sign or fenestration e. g. 
windows or doors  shall have 100 percent of the initial lamp output of all lamps used to 
provide such illumination counted toward unshielded lighting for the purposes of calculating 
total outdoor light output for the site and is sub ect to the standards of this division. 
 
h  Architectural, Aesthetic and Landscape Lighting. Architectural lighting used to illuminate the 
wall of a building or landscape lighting used to illuminate trees or other landscape elements 
is permitted. All building lighting for aesthetics shall be fully shielded type, not allowing any 
upward distribution of light and must be externally lit from the top and shine downward, 
except as provided below  
 

1  Architectural and landscape lighting that is directed downward onto a wall, tree or other 
landscape feature shall be included in the total outdoor light output standards provided 
in , based on whether a fully shielded or partially shielded light fixture is used  
and 
 
2  Architectural and landscape lighting that is directed upward onto a wall, tree or other 
landscape feature shall be included in the total outdoor light output standards provided 
in . Fixtures shall be located, aimed or shielded to minimize light spill into the 
night sky. 

 
i  Emergency Lighting. mergency lighting that is only tamed on in the event of a power 
failure or when an alarm is activated is permitted in all zoning districts and is excluded from 
the total lumen calculations for the site. 
 

 Neon Building Lighting. Neon building lighting is included in the total outdoor light output 
calculations for the site. Any unshielded neon lighting is limited by the unshielded lighting 
limits of this division. 
 

 
a  Laser source light. The use of laser source light or any similar high intensity light for outdoor 
advertising or entertainment, when pro ected above the horizontal is prohibited. 
 
b  Cobra-head fixtures. Cobra-head-type fixtures having dished or drop lenses are prohibited. 
 
c  Searchlights. The operation of searchlights for advertising purposes is prohibited. 
 
d  Floodlights. The use of floodlights is prohibited. 
 
e  Up lighting. p lighting of display, building and aesthetic lighting is prohibited, except 
where provided otherwise in this division. 



 

New Fairview Ordinances Outdoor Lighting doc  Page 2  

 
f  Halogen lights. alogen lights are prohibited. 
 
g  Mercury vapor lights. ercury vapor lights are prohibited. 
 
h  Flashing lights. Any lighting device located on the exterior of a building or on the inside of a 
window which is visible beyond the boundaries of the lot or parcel with intermittent fading, 
flashing, blinking, rotating or strobe light illumination. 
 
 
 

The following are exempt from the provisions of this division  
 
1  Emergency Lighting by Emergency Services. All temporary emergency lighting needed 
by the estlake Department of Public Safety or other emergency services, as well as all 
vehicular luminaries. 
 
2  Holiday Decorations. Seasonal decorative lighting is exempt from the provisions of this 
division provided that individual lamps are less than 10 watts incandescent or e uivalent 
lumens. 
 

 Solar Powered Lighting. Solar powered lights less than  watts incandescent or 
e uivalent lumens per fixture used in residential landscaping application and to 
illuminate walkways are exempt from applicable lamp type and shielding standards, but 
must conform the average lighting levels of Table 2. 
 

 Public Art. Lighting for public monuments and statuary as recommended by the estlake 
Public Art Competition Advisory Committee and approved by the Town Council are 
exempt from the standards of this division. 
 

 Construction. All outdoor lighting used for construction or ma or renovation structures 
and facilities are exempt from the provisions of this division unless specified elsewhere 
in this division or code of ordinances. 
 

 Swimming Pool and Decorative Water Fountain Lighting. nderwater lighting in 
swimming pools and other water features are exempt from the lamp type and shielding 
standards. 
 

 
a  pon approval by the City anger or their designee s , temporary exemptions from the 

re uirements of this division shall be for a period not to exceed 10 days. 
 
b  Any person may submit a written re uest, on a form prepared by the town for a temporary 



 

New Fairview Ordinances Outdoor Lighting doc  Page 2  

exemption re uest. The re uest shall fulfill the same re uirements as defined in in the 
Outdoor Lighting Plan standards of this division. 
 
c  Re uests for renewal or exemptions shall be processed in the same way as the original 
re uest. ach renewal shall be valid for not more than 10 days or a time period designated by 
the City anager or their designee. 
 
d  Approval for temporary exemptions will be based on the effect of location and use of outdoor 
lighting fixtures. 
 
e  Roadway and/or street lighting, whether public or private, is not eligible for exemption. 
 
 

a  All luminaries lawfully in place prior to the date of the ordinance from which this division is 
derived shall be considered as having legal nonconforming status. owever, any luminary 
that replaces a legal nonconforming luminary, or any legal nonconforming luminary that is 
moved, must meet the standards of this division, sub ect to the following conditions. 
 

1  If a person makes any change or addition to an existing lighting system, the change or 
addition shall conform to the provisions of this division  
 
2  If a person makes any change or addition to an existing building which results in an 
increase in the size of the building by more than twenty percent 20 , the person shall 
ensure that all existing outdoor lighting shall conform to the provisions of this division. 

 
 

An applicant shall have the right to appeal a decision of the City anager or their designee s . 
All such appeals shall be heard by the City Council. The appeal s  shall be filed with the City 

anager or their designee s  within twenty 20  days after the date of decision by the City  
anager or designee. After the hearing on the appeal for an application, the City Council shall 

grant or deny the appeal. 
 

 
 

That all provisions not hereby amended shall remain in full force and effect. 
 

  
 

That this Ordinance shall be cumulative of all other City Ordinances and 



 

New Fairview Ordinances Outdoor Lighting doc  Page 2  

all other provisions of other Ordinances adopted by the City which are inconsistent with the terms 
or provisions of this Ordinance are hereby repealed. 
 

 
That any person, firm or corporation violating any of the provisions or terms of this 

ordinance shall be sub ect to the same penalty as provided for in the Code of Ordinances of the 
City of New Fairview, and upon conviction shall be punishable by a fine not to exceed the sum of 
Two Thousand Dollars 2,000.00  for each offense. ach day that a violation is permitted to exist 
shall constitute a separate offense. 
 

 
 

It is hereby declared to be the intention of the City Council that the phrases, clauses, 
sentences, paragraphs, and sections of this Ordinance are severable, and if any phrase, clause, 
sentence paragraph or section of this ordinance shall be declared unconstitutional by the valid 
udgment or decree of any court of competent urisdiction, such unconstitutionality shall not affect 

any of the remaining phrases, clauses, sentences, paragraphs and sections of this Ordinance, since 
the same would have been enacted by the City Council without the incorporation in this Ordinance 
of any such unconstitutional phrase, clause, sentence, paragraph or section. 
 

 
 

This Ordinance shall be in full force and effect after its passage and publication. 
 

 
 
 
 
        
       Nolan Schoonmaker, ayor  
 
ATT ST  
 
 

 
onica Rodriguez, City Secretary 



 

New Fairview Ordinances Outdoor Lighting doc  Page 2  

 



Discuss with staff the solid waste provider contract. 

Frontier aste has asked for a new agreement following the approval of the amendment by the 
city council. The agreement has been reviewed by our city attorney and staff. Staff has updated 
the agreement to ask for a dumpster at city hall as well as increased insurance coverage. Staff is 
seeking input from the council regarding the potential adoption of the new agreement for solid 
waste services.

The Solid aste Franchise Agreement with Frontier aste is coming up for renewal. Staff has 
been working with Frontier to provide additional city-wide clean-up days. Frontier has agreed to 
increase from two-to-four annual city-wide clean-up days. This does not impact the rates that our 
residents are currently paying. 

Staff has also asked Frontier to provide a uote for adding hazardous waste disposal services. 
Frontier has proposed adding this service for the following  

onthly Front Porch Pickup 1.1  per home per month 
uarterly Front Porch Pickup 1.0  per home per month 

Staff is seeking input from the Council on how they would like to proceed.  

N/A 

Ben Nibarger, City Administrator



 
 

Amendment 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

EXCLUSIVE FRANCHISE AGREEMENT  
 

FOR THE COLLECTION, HAULING AND DISPOSAL OF 
 

MUNICIPAL SOLID WASTE AND CONSTRUCTION AND DEMOLITION WASTE 
 

 AND RECYCLING 
 

IN THE CITY OF NEW FAIRVIEW, TEXAS  
 
 
 
 
 

February 1, 2022 Deleted: 2017



EXCLUSIVE FRANCHISE AGREEMENT  
FOR THE COLLECTION, HAULING AND DISPOSAL OF  

MUNICIPAL SOLID WASTE AND CONSTRUCTION AND DEMOLITION WASTE 
AND RECYCLING 

IN THE CITY OF NEW FAIRVIEW, TEXAS 
 

STATE OF TEXAS 
 

COUNTY OF WISE 
 

THIS EXCLUSIVE FRANCHISE AGREEMENT (this "Agreement") is made and entered 
into on _______________, 2021 to be effective as of February 1, 2022, by and between Frontier 
Texas Ventures I, LLC, a Texas limited liability company (the "Service Provider"), and the City of 
New Fairview, Texas (the "City"). 

 
WHEREAS, the City, subject to the terms and conditions set forth herein and the ordinances 

and regulations of the City, desires to grant to the Service Provider the exclusive franchise, license and 
privilege to collect, haul and dispose of Municipal Solid Waste and Construction and Demolition 
Waste and Recycling Materials (as such terms are defined herein) within the City's corporate limits.  
  

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and the mutual promises, covenants 
and agreements set forth herein, the Service Provider and the City hereby agree as follows: 
 
SECTION 1. DEFINED TERMS. 
 
The following terms, as used herein, will be defined as follows: 
 
Bulky Item - Any Solid Waste not measuring in excess of either forty-eight (48) inches in length or 
fifty (50) pounds in weight, including, but not limited to, construction and demolition debris, 
refrigerators, stoves, washing machines, water tanks, chairs, couches and tree trimmings. Metal objects 
included in bulky waste will not exceed 50 lbs. 
 
Bundles - Items not measuring in excess of either forty-eight (48) inches in length or fifty (50) pounds 
in weight and which are securely fastened together, including, but not limited to, brush, newspapers 
and tree trimmings. 
 
Business Day -  Any day that is not a Saturday, a Sunday or other day on which banks are required 
or authorized by law to be closed in the city. 
 
Commercial Unit - Any non-manufacturing commercial facility that generates and accumulates 
Municipal Solid Waste during, or as a result of, its business, including, but not limited to, restaurants, 
stores, warehouses, schools, recreational facilities, clubs and churches. 
 
Construction and Demolition Waste - Solid Waste resulting from construction or demolition 
activities or that is directly or indirectly the byproduct of such activities, including, but not limited to, 
cartons, concrete, excelsior, gypsum board, metal, paper, plastic, rubber and wood products and 
regardless of whether such solid waste is mixed with or constitutes recyclable materials. Construction 
and demolition debris does not include Hazardous Waste or Municipal Solid Waste. 

Deleted: December ___, 2016

Deleted: 2017

Deleted: Midwest Waste Services

Commented [LC1]: sed NF ordinance definition. Changes 
below track NF ordinances where needed. 
Deleted: Any item measuring in excess of either forty-eight (48) 
inches in length or fifty (50) pounds in weight, including, but not 
limited to, refrigerators, stoves, washing machines, water tanks, chairs, 
couches and tree trimmings.

Deleted: Any day that is not a Saturday, a Sunday or holiday.

Deleted: Any non-manufacturing commercial facility that generates 
and accumulates Municipal Solid Waste during, or as a result of, its 
business, including, but not limited to, restaurants, stores and 
warehouses.…

Deleted: Solid Waste resulting from construction or demolition 
activities or that is directly or indirectly the by-product of such 
activities, including, but not limited to, cartons, concrete, excelsior, 
gypsum board, metal, paper, plastic, rubber and wood products.  
Construction and Demolition Waste does not include Hazardous 
Waste or Municipal Solid Waste.



 
Container - Any receptacle, including, but not limited to, dumpsters, Roll-outs and Roll-Offs 
provided to the City by the Service Provider and utilized by a Commercial, Industrial or Residential 
Unit for collecting Municipal Solid Waste or Construction and Demolition Waste.  Containers are 
designed to hold between ninety six (96) gallons and forty (40) cubic yards of Municipal Solid Waste 
or Construction and Demolition Waste. 
 
Handicapped Residential Unit - Any Residential Unit that is inhabited by persons, all of whom are 
physically handicapped to the extent that they are unable to place Municipal Solid Waste at the 
curbside and that generates and accumulates Municipal Solid Waste.  The identities of the members 
of a Handicapped Residential Unit shall be certified by the City Clerk and agreed to by the Service 
Provider.   
 
Hazardous Waste - Waste identified or listed as a hazardous waste by the administrator of the United 
States Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) under the federal Solid Waste Disposal Act, as 
amended by the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act of 1976, as amended, or so classified by 
any federal or State of Texas statute, rule, order or regulation.  
  
 
Holidays - The following days:  

(1)  New Year's Day (January 1st) 
(2)  Memorial Day  
(3)  Independence Day (July 4th) 
(4)  Labor Day 
(5)  Thanksgiving Day  
(6)  Christmas Day (December 25th). 

 
Household Hazardous Waste - Any solid waste generated in a household by a consumer which, 
except for the exclusion provided in 40 Code of Federal Regulations (CFR) §261.4(b)(1), would be 
classified as a hazardous waste under 40 CFR Part 261. The term has the same meaning as “hazardous 
household waste”. 
 
Industrial Unit - Any manufacturing, mining or agricultural facility that generates and accumulates 
Municipal Solid Waste during, or as a result of, its operations. 
 
Landfill - Any facility or area of land receiving Municipal Solid Waste or Construction and Demolition 
Waste and operating under the regulation and authority of the Texas Commission on Environmental 
Quality ("TCEQ") within the State of Texas, or the appropriate governing agency for landfills located 
outside the State of Texas. 
 
Multi-Family Residential Unit - Any residential dwelling that is designed for, and inhabited by, 
multiple family units and that generates and accumulates Municipal Solid Waste. 
 
Municipal Solid Waste - Solid Waste resulting from or incidental to municipal, community, 
commercial, institutional or recreational activities, industrial or manufacturing, mining, or agricultural 
operations regardless of whether such Solid Waste is mixed with or constitutes recycleable materials.  
Municipal Solid Waste does not include Construction and Demolition Waste or Hazardous Waste.  
 

Moved (insertion) [1]
Deleted: residential dwelling

Moved up [1]: Handicapped Residential Unit - Any residential 
dwelling that is inhabited by persons, all of whom are physically 
handicapped to the extent that they are unable to place Municipal Solid 
Waste at the curbside and that generates and accumulates Municipal 
Solid Waste.  The identities of the members of a Handicapped 
Residential Unit shall be certified by the City Clerk and agreed to by 
the Service Provider.  ¶



Recycling Materials 
(a) Newspapers, magazines, and catalogs, and other paper items such as mail, paper bags 

or other paper; 
 
(b) Glass bottles and jars (excluding mirrors, windows, ceramics and other glass products); 

 
(c) Metal cans composed of tin, steel or aluminum (excluding scrap metal); and 

 
(d) Plastic containers including all varieties of the types designated as #1, #2, #3, #4, #5 

and #7. 
 
Residential Unit - Any residential dwelling that is either a Single-Family Residential Unit or a Multi-
Family Residential Unit. 
 
Roll-Off - A Container with twenty (20) cubic yards to forty (40) cubic yards of capacity. 
 
Roll-Out - A Container with ninety-six (96) gallons of capacity. Each Residential Unit utilizing service 
hereunder is required to utilize at least one Container. 
 
Single-Family Residential Unit - Any residential dwelling that is designed for, and inhabited by, a 
single person or family unit and that generates and accumulates Municipal Solid Waste. 
 
Solid Waste - As defined by the EPA under 40 C.F.R. § 261.2(a)(1), or by the State of Texas under 
the Solid Waste Disposal Act § 361.003(38) regardless of whether such waste is mixed with or 
constitutes Recycling Materials.  
  
White Good - Any item measuring in excess of either three (3) cubic feet in size or fifty (50) pounds 
in weight  and that is manufactured primarily from metal, including, but not limited to, a bath tub, 
heater, hot water heater, refrigerator, sink or washer and dryer. 
 
SECTION 2.  EXCLUSIVE FRANCHISE GRANT. 
 
The City hereby grants to the Service Provider, in accordance with the City's ordinances and 
regulations governing the collection, hauling and disposal of Municipal Solid Waste,  Construction 
and Demolition Waste and Recycling Materials, the exclusive franchise, license and privilege to collect, 
haul and dispose of Municipal Solid Waste, Construction and Demolition Waste and Recycling 
Materials over, upon, along and across the present and future streets, alleys, bridges and public 
properties within the corporate limits of the City. 
 
SECTION 3.  TERM. 
 
 The term of this Agreement shall be for a period of five (5) years, commencing on                                     
February 1, 2022 and concluding on  January 31, 2027.  At the expiration of the term of this 
Agreement, this Agreement will be extended for successive periods of five (5) years; provided, that 
neither party provides the other party with written notice of intent to terminate this Agreement at least 
180 days prior to the expiration date of this Agreement or 180 days prior to any of the then applicable 
individual five-year extension periods.  If either party provides such notice, this Agreement will cease 

Commented [LC2]: This is not as expansive as what is allowed 
under the NF ordinance. Is this okay  If so, I d suggest notifying 
your constituency of the difference when the contract goes into play. 

Deleted: residential unit

Deleted: 2017

Deleted: 2022

Commented [LC3]: Do you want auto-renewal  Often, can be 
hard to track. 



to be renewed and will terminate at the end of either this five (5) year Agreement, or at the end of the 
subsequent five (5) year extension period, as applicable. 
 
SECTION 4.  OPERATIONS. 
 
A.  Scope of Operations.  It is expressly understood and agreed that the Service Provider will 
collect, haul and dispose of all Municipal Solid Waste, Construction and Demolition Waste and 
Recycling Materials (i) generated and accumulated by Commercial, Industrial and Residential Units, 
and (ii) placed within Containers by those Commercial, Industrial and Residential Units receiving the 
services of the Service Provider (or otherwise generated and accumulated in the manner herein 
provided by those Commercial Units, Industrial Units and Residential Units), all within the City's 
corporate limits, including any territories annexed by the City during the term of this Agreement (the 
"Services"). 
 
B. Nature of Operations.  The City hereby grants to the Service Provider, in accordance with the 
City's ordinances and regulations governing the collection, hauling and disposal of Municipal Solid 
Waste, Construction and Demolition Waste and Recycling Materials, the title to all Municipal Solid 
Waste, Construction and Demolition Waste and Recycling Materials collected, hauled and disposed 
of by the Service Provider over, upon, along and across the present and future streets, alleys, bridges 
and public properties within the corporate limits of the City.  All title to and liability for materials 
excluded from this Agreement shall remain with the generator of such materials. 
 
SECTION 5.  SERVICE PROVIDER’S DUTIES AND OBLIGATOINS. 
 
It shall be the duty and obligation of Service Provider to perform the following services: 
 
A. Provisions of Equipment and Facilities.  Service Provider agrees to furnish trucks, equipment, 
machinery, tools, personnel, labor, disposal, and any and all other items necessary and sufficient to 
fulfill its obligations under this Agreement, at its own expense, to adequately, efficiently and properly 
collect and transport Municipal Solid Waste, Construction and Demolition Waste, Recycling Materials, 
Bulky Items and Bundles and other refuse from Residential Units, Industrial Units and Commercial 
Units within the corporate limits of the City in a systematic, clean, healthful and sanitary manner. 
 
B. Disposal of Solid Waste and Refuse.  Service Provider will dispose of in a legal manner all 
Municipal Solid Waste, Construction and Demolition Waste, Bulky Items, Bundles, and other Solid 
Waste and refuse collected.  All vehicles used by Service Provider for the collection of Municipal Solid 
Waste, Construction and Demolition Waste, Bulky Items, Bundles, and other Solid Waste and refuse 
shall be protected at all times while in transit to prevent leakage or the blowing or scattering of refuse 
onto the public streets of City or property adjacent thereto.  Further, such vehicles shall be clearly 
marked with Service Provider’s telephone number and name in letters and numbers not less than four 
(4) inches in height. 
 
C. Sanitation and Health.  All collection equipment shall be washed and deodorized as necessary.  
Service Provider shall establish and enforce in its operations and among its employees such regulations 
in regard to cleanliness and disposal of refuse as will tend to prevent the inception and spread of 
infectious or contagious disease and to effectively prevent the creation of a nuisance on any property, 
either public or private. 
 

Formatted: Keep with next



D. Routes and Schedules.  Service Provider agrees to establish daily routes and special schedules 
for the collection of Municipal Solid Waste, Construction and Demolition Waste, and other Solid 
Waste and refuse as necessary to fulfill the requirements of this Agreement.   
 
E. Labor Force and Equipment  Service Provider shall employ only supervisors and workers who 
are careful, competent and fully qualified to perform the duties or tasks assigned to them and shall 
secure the summary dismissal of any person or persons employed by the Service Provider in or about 
or on the work who shall misconduct themselves or not be in the proper performance of their duties 
or who shall neglect or refuse to comply with or carry out the directions of Service Provider.   
 
F. Free Services.  For no charge, Service Provider shall furnish City with (i) one (1) six-yard 
dumpster at City Hall to be serviced weekly and (ii) four (4) thirty-yard Roll-Offs for four (4) City-
wide cleanups to be held in March, June, September, and December, at a place designated by the City.  
 
SECTION 6.  SINGLE-FAMILY RESIDENTIAL UNIT COLLECTIONS. 
 
A.  Single-Family Residential Units.  The Service Provider will collect Municipal Solid Waste from 
Single-Family Residential Units and Handicapped Residential Units once per week; provided, that (i) 
such Municipal Solid Waste is placed at the curb in Roll-Outs provided by the Service Provider and 
(ii) such Roll-Outs are placed within five (5) feet of the curbside or right of way adjacent to the Single-
Family Residential Unit no later than 7:00 a.m. on the scheduled collection day; provided, however, 
that Handicapped Residential Units shall not be required to place their Roll-Outs at the curb, and the 
Service Provider shall collect Municipal Solid Waste from such Roll-Outs as agreed upon between the 
Service Provider and such Handicapped Residential Unit.   
 
B. Excess or Misplaced Municipal Solid Waste.  The Service Provider shall only be responsible 
for collecting, hauling and disposing of Municipal Solid Waste or Recycling Materials placed inside the 
Roll-Outs provided by the Service Provider.  Municipal Solid Waste or Recycling Material in excess 
of the Roll-Outs' limits, or placed outside or adjacent to the Roll-Outs, will not be collected by the 
Service Provider.  However, such excess or misplaced Municipal Solid Waste may be collected on 
occasion and within reason due to Holidays or other extraordinary circumstances as determined by 
the Service Provider in its sole discretion.  If the excess or misplaced Municipal Solid Waste continues, 
the City shall require the Residential Unit to utilize an additional Roll-Out so that the excess or 
misplaced Municipal Solid Waste will be regularly contained.  The Service Provider shall be 
compensated for these additional Services as provided for in Section 11 hereto.   
 
C. Household Hazardous Waste Collection.  The Service Provider will collect Household 
Hazardous Waste from Single-Family Residential Units once per month, as designated by the Service 
Provider; provided, that the Household Hazardous Waste (i) is placed on the porch/doorstep no later 
than 7:00 a.m. on the scheduled collection day, (ii) is reasonably contained in a box or bag, and (iii) 
the Single-Family Residential Unit notifies the Service Provider of the need for such collection at least 
7 days prior to the scheduled collection day for such Household Hazardous Waste.  The Service 
Provider shall only be responsible for collecting, hauling and disposing of Household Hazardous 
Waste from those Single-Family Residential Units that have complied with this Section 6.C. 
 
The Service Provider will accept the following items for collection as Household Hazardous Waste:  
  Aerosol products 

Deleted: two (2)

Deleted:  Roll-Outs

Deleted: two

Deleted: once 

Deleted: the spring

Deleted: once in the fall



      Ammunition, home use fireworks 
  Antifreeze  
  Auto fluids 
  Ballasts (non-PCB & PCB)  
  Batteries – auto, sump, power tool & household sizes  
  Blacktop sealer - oil based  
  Cleaning products  
  Cooking Oil  
  Fire Extinguishers  
  Fluorescent bulbs (tubes and CFLs)  
  Gasoline & oil/gas mixtures  
  HID (headlight bulbs)  
  Hobby & photo chemicals  
  Lawn chemicals  
  Mercury containing Devices (thermostats, etc.)  
  Motor oil  

      Oxygen tanks  
  Paint (Oil-based paints, stains, varnishes; and Latex Paint)  
  Pesticides, poisons, herbicides, insecticides  
  Pharmaceuticals/medications  
  Pool chemicals   
  Propane tanks 

      Resins, Glues, Adhesives  
  Smoke Detectors  
  Solvents  

 
The Service Provider will not accept the following items for collection as Household Hazardous 
Waste:  
   Acetylene cylinders  
  Biological or medical waste  
  Business generated waste  
  Foam cylinders (Part A/Part B) 
  Explosives 
  MAPP gases  
  Radioactive Material  
  Syringes/needles  
  Farm machinery oil 

 
Each Household Hazardous Waste collection per month shall be limited as follows:  

      Fluorescent light bulbs: Minimum 1, Maximum 8 
      Used motor oils or antifreeze: Minimum 1 gallon, Maximum 2 gallons 

Paints and supplies; Pool & Household Chemicals: Minimum 1 gallon, Maximum 4 gallons 
Household Cleaners; Pesticides & Fertilizers: Minimum 1 item, Maximum 8 items 



Household Batteries: Minimum 1; Maximum 20” 
 
SECTION 7.  COMMERCIAL, INDUSTRIAL AND MULTI-FAMILY RESIDENTIAL 
UNIT COLLECTIONS. 
 
The Service Provider will collect Municipal Solid Waste from Commercial, Industrial and Multi-Family 
Residential Units.  The Service Provider shall only be responsible for collecting, hauling and disposing 
of Municipal Solid Waste or Construction and Demolition Waste placed inside the Containers 
provided by the Service Provider.  However, the Service Provider shall be obligated to offer and 
provide sufficient service to Commercial, Industrial and Multi-Family Residential Units, and to 
increase or decrease, as necessary, the frequency of collection and the size or number of Containers 
so that Commercial, Industrial or Multi-Family Units' Municipal Solid Waste and Construction and 
Demolition Waste will be regularly contained.  The Service Provider shall be compensated for these 
additional Services as provided for in Section 11 hereto.  
 
SECTION 8.  INTENTIONALLY DELETED. 
 
SECTION 9.  INTENTIONALLY DELETED. 
 
SECTION 10.  TITLE TO EQUIPMENT. 
 
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, it is expressly understood and agreed that 
all equipment, including, but not limited to, Containers, provided by the Service Provider in 
connection with the Services, shall at all times remain the property of the Service Provider. 
 
SECTION 11.  RATES AND FEES. 
 
Subject to adjustment, as provided in Section 12 hereto, the rates and fees to be charged and received 
by the Service Provider are provided in Attachment 1. 
 
SECTION 12.  RATE ADJUSTMENT. 
 
A.  CPI-U Adjustment.  On each anniversary date of this Agreement, the rates and fees hereunder 
shall automatically increase or decrease in accordance with the CPI-U.  As used herein, "CPI-U" shall 
mean the revised Consumer Price Index rate for all urban consumers (all items included) for the 
nearest available metropolitan area, based on the latest available figures from the Department of 
Labor's Bureau of Labor Statistics (the "Bureau").  The CPI-U used will be the index entitled “CPI-U 
‘Dallas-Fort Worth, Texas area’” published by the Bureau during the month ninety (90) days preceding 
the adjustment under this Section 12.A.  The amount of the increase or decrease under this Section 
12.A. shall be equal to the percentage that the CPI-U has increased or decreased over the previous 
twelve (12) month period. 
 
B.  Operating Cost Adjustment.  In addition to the rate adjustments provided for in Section 12.A., 
at any time during the term of this Agreement, the Service Provider may petition the City for additional 
rate and price adjustments at reasonable times on the basis of material or unusual changes in its cost 
of operations due to, or directly resulting from, among other things, increased fuel costs, ad valorem 
taxes, or revised federal, state or local laws, ordinances or regulations.  At the time of any such petition, 

Formatted: Keep with next

Deleted: RECYCLING CENTER.  In cooperation with the City, 
Service Provider agrees to establish and maintain a recycling center at 
City Hall where residents of the City may deposit their Recyclable 
Materials.  Service Provider shall, as needed, deliver such Recyclable 
Materials to a materials recovery facility

Formatted: Font: Bold



the Service Provider shall provide the City with documents and records in reasonable form and 
sufficient detail to reasonably establish the necessity of any requested rate adjustment.   
  
C. Governmental Fees.  The parties acknowledge that the rates herein include all applicable fees, 
taxes or similar assessments incurred under federal, state and local laws, rules and ordinances 
(excluding sales taxes and taxes imposed on income) (the “Fees”).  The parties acknowledge and 
understand that the Fees may vary from time to time, and, in the event any of such Fees are increased 
or additional Fees are imposed subsequent to the effective date of this Agreement, the parties agree 
that the rates herein shall be immediately increased by the amount of any such increase in Fees or 
additional Fees. 
 
D. Fuel Cost Adjustment.  With respect to each month in which the price of diesel fuel exceeds 
$4.00 per gallon, the Service Provider may impose a fuel surcharge on the next month’s invoice in an 
amount equal to the following: 

70 Monthly Truck Hours x 6 Gallons per Hour x Amount by which the price of diesel fuel for such month 
exceeds $4.00 

For purposes of the above formula, the price of diesel fuel for any given month shall be equal to the 
average of the three then most recently published Weekly Retail On-Highway Diesel Prices for the 
Gulf Coast Region as published by the United States Energy Information Administration at 
http://www.eia.gov/oog/info/wohdp/diesel.asp or any subsequent URL or other publication.  
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, the franchise fee payable hereunder shall 
not apply to the fuel surcharge or sales taxes. 
 
SECTION 13.  EXCLUSIONS. 
 
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, this Agreement shall not cover the 
collection, hauling or disposal of any Hazardous Waste, animal or human waste, auto parts, used tires, 
concrete, dirt, gravel, rock or sand from any Container provided by the Service Provider located at 
any Commercial, Industrial or Residential Unit; provided, however, that the Service Provider and the 
owner or occupant of a Commercial, Industrial or Residential Unit may negotiate an agreement on an 
individual basis regarding the collection, hauling or disposal of auto parts, used tires, concrete, dirt, 
gravel, rock or sand by utilizing the Service Provider's Roll-Off Services. 
 
SECTION 14.  ENFORCEMENT. 
 
During the term of this Agreement and any extension thereof, the City agrees to adopt and maintain 
ordinances that will enable the Service Provider to provide the Services set forth herein.  If the Service 
Provider experiences recurring problems of damage or destruction to or theft of the Containers 
provided by the Service Provider pursuant to this Agreement, the Service Provider may, prior to 
replacing or repairing such Containers, require security deposits from the Commercial, Industrial or 
Residential Units utilizing such Containers.   
 
SECTION 15.  PROCESSING, BILLING AND FEES. 
 
A. Monthly Statement.  On a monthly basis, the Service Provider agrees to bill and collect the 
rates and fees charged under Section 11 hereto from all Residential, Commercial and Industrial Units 



requiring the collection, hauling and disposal of Municipal Solid Waste, Construction and Demolition 
Waste or Recycling Materials within the City's corporate limts and to provide a statement of such 
charges each month to the City (the "Monthly Statement"). Thereafter, the Service Provider will remit 
to the City an amount equal to a franchise fee equal to ten percent (10%) of the amount set forth in 
the Monthly Statement.  Such remittance shall be made by the Service Provider on or before the 15th 
day of each month (for the immediately preceding month's service) commencing on 
February 15, 2022.  Notwithstanding the above, the Service Provider may reduce the franchise fee by 
the amount of any bad debt relating to amounts billed by the Service Provider to Residential, 
Commercial and Industrial Units hereunder; provided that the Service Provider furnishes the City with 
a list of the past due customers and the amounts due along with the Monthly Statement.   The Service 
Provider shall discontinue service to any Residential, Commercial or Industrial Unit that does not pay 
the full amount set forth herein for the services provided hereunder within thirty (30) days of the date 
of any invoice delivered to such Unit. 
 
B. Taxes.  In addition to the amounts billed and collected by the Service Provider under 
Section 15.A., the Service Provider shall also bill for and be responsible for paying any and all sales, 
use and service taxes assessed or payable in connection with the Services.   
 
C. Bad Debt; Unpaid Rates/Fees.  The City agrees that payments owing to the Service Provider 
pursuant to this Agreement shall be based solely on the Services rendered by the Service Provider.  
The Service Provider reserves the right to terminate Service to those Residential Units that are in 
default until they have paid in full. 
 
D. Billings for Roll-Off Services.  The Service Provider will bill and collect all Residential, 
Commercial and Industrial Units for Services performed with respect to Roll-Off Containers.  
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, the franchise fee shall not apply to any 
Services provided using Roll-Off Containers. 
 
SECTION 16.  SPILLAGE. 
 
It is understood and agreed that the Service Provider shall periodically clean up, collect or dispose of 
any loose or spilled Municipal Solid Waste, Construction and Demolition Waste, or Recycling 
Materials not caused by the Service Provider's rendering of the Services, or be required to collect and 
dispose of any excess Municipal Solid Waste, Construction and Demolition Waste, or Recycling 
Materials placed outside of the Containers or bags by any Commercial, Industrial or Residential Unit.  
The Service Provider shall report the location of such conditions to the City so that the City can issue 
proper notice to the owner or occupant of the Commercial, Industrial or Residential Unit instructing 
the owner or occupant to properly contain such Municipal Solid Waste, Construction and Demolition 
Waste or Recycling Materials.  Should excess Municipal Solid Waste, Construction and Demolition 
Waste or Recycling Materials continue to be placed outside of the Containers or bags, the City shall 
require the Commercial, Industrial or Residential Unit to increase the frequency of collection of such 
Municipal Solid Waste, Construction and Demolition Waste or Recycling Materials, or require the 
Commercial, Industrial or Residential Unit to utilize a Container with sufficient capacity so that the 
excess Municipal Solid Waste, Construction and Demolition Waste or Recycling Materials will be 
regularly contained.  If the Service Provider requires an additional Container to accommodate the 
excess Municipal Solid Waste, they shall be compensated for these additional Services as provided for 

Deleted:  

Deleted:  2017

Deleted: not be required to 

Deleted: T



in Attachment 1 hereto, and shall be entitled to receive an extra collection charge for each additional 
Container requiring an extra collection. 
 
SECTION 17.  NON-COLLECTION NOTICE AND FOLLOW-UP. 
 
A. Notice from the Service Provider.  It is specifically understood and agreed that where the 
owner or occupant of a Commercial, Industrial or Residential Unit fails to timely place a Container or 
bag as directed in Sections 6 and 7 hereto, or is otherwise in violation of the City's ordinances and 
regulations, the Service Provider's reasonable rules adopted hereunder or the provisions of this 
Agreement relating to the nature, volume or weight of Municipal Solid Waste, Construction and 
Demolition Waste, or Recycling Materials to be removed, the Service Provider may refrain from 
collecting all or a portion of such Municipal Solid Waste, Construction and Demolition Waste or 
Recycling Materials and will notify the City within eight (8) hours thereafter of the reason for such 
non-collection.  The Service Provider will also provide written notice to the Commercial, Industrial 
or Residential Unit of the reason for such non-collection, unless such non-collection is the result of 
the Commercial, Industrial, or Residential Unit's failure to timely place the Containers, bags, Bulky 
Items, or Bundles out for collection.  Such written notice shall be attached to the Container or bag or 
the uncollected Municipal Solid Waste, Construction and Demolition Waste, or Recycling Materials, 
shall indicate the nature of the violation and shall indicate the correction required in order that such 
Municipal Solid Waste, Construction and Demolition Waste, or Recycling Materials may be collected.   
 
B. Notice from a Commercial, Industrial or Residential Unit.  When the City is notified by an 
owner or occupant of a Commercial, Industrial, or Residential Unit that Municipal Solid Waste, 
Construction and Demolition Waste, or Recycling Materials has not been removed from such 
Commercial, Industrial, or Residential Unit and where no notice of non-collection or a change in 
collection schedule has been received by the City from the Service Provider, or the Service Provider 
has failed to collect Municipal Solid Waste, Construction and Demolition Waste, or Recycling 
Materials from the Commercial, Industrial or Residential Unit without cause, as supported by notice 
as described herein, then the Service Provider will use all reasonable efforts to collect such Municipal 
Solid Waste, Construction and Demolition Waste, or Recycling Materials on the day a collection order 
is issued by the City; provided, however, that if the Service Provider fails to make such collection on 
the same day that a collection order is issued by the City, the Service Provider shall make such 
collection no later than 12:00 p.m. on the following Business Day, and there shall be no charge to the 
Service Provider for any such original non-collection or late collection so long as the Service Provider 
makes such collection within such time. 
 
SECTION 18.  HOURS OF SERVICE. 
 
For all the Services provided hereunder, the Service Provider's hours of service shall be between 7:00 
a.m. to 7:00 p.m., Monday through Friday. The Service Provider will not be required to provide service 
on weekends or Holidays except during natural disasters or emergencies, and may, at its sole discretion, 
observe Holidays during the term of this Agreement. 
 
SECTION 19.  CUSTOMER SERVICE. 
 
A. Office Hours.  Service Provider’s local telephone shall be staffed so that customers can make 
complaints, requests for information, requests for service, etc. during the hours of 8:00 a.m. through 
5:00 p.m., Monday through Friday, excluding legal holidays.   

Commented [LC4]: Service Provider needs to add fee for this 
service. 

Commented [BN5R4]: ent, please provide me a cost for this. 

Formatted: Keep with next



 
B. Office Personnel.  Service Provider’s office shall have a responsible person in charge during 
collection hours on collection days and shall be equipped with sufficient attendants to receive 
telephone calls.  Attendant(s) shall respond to calls in a courteous manner within the following twenty-
four (24) hour period. 

 
C. Managing Agent.  Throughout the term of the Agreement, Service Provider shall establish and 
maintain an authorized Managing Agent and shall designate in writing to the City Clerk the name, 
telephone number, and address of such agent to whom all notices may be served by the City of 
complaints received from citizens of the City. 

 
D. Service Complaints.  All service complaints shall initially be directed to Service Provider and 
shall be resolved within twenty-four (24) hours.  Service Provider shall supply the City with copies of 
all complaints on a form approved by the City indicating the disposition of each complaint.  The form 
shall indicate the day and hour on which the complaint was received and resolved.  When a complaint 
is received on the day preceding a holiday or a weekend, it shall be serviced on the next working day. 
 
E. Notification of Complaints. The City shall notify Service Provider of each complaint reported 
to the City in order for the Service Provider to take whatever reasonable steps are necessary to remedy 
the cause of the complaint.  Service Provider shall notify the City of its disposition within twenty-four 
(24) hours after receipt of the complaint. 
 
F. Explanation of Disposition of Complaints.  Service Provider shall provide the City with a full 
explanation of the disposition of any complaint involving a customer’s claim of damage to private 
property as the result of actions of Service Provider’s employees, agents, and subcontractors in 
connection with the performance of this Agreement. 
 
G. Notification of Procedures.  Service Provider shall notify all customers about procedures, rules 
and regulations, and days of collection on an annual basis and whenever there is a change in service, 
days of collection, procedures, etc.  Notice is to be in the form of printed matter distributed by Service 
Provider to all premises served by Service Provider at least thirty (30) days prior to any change in the 
procedures, rules and regulations, days of collection, service, etc.  Such notice must be approved by 
the City prior to distribution, such approval to not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed.   
 
H. Noncollection.  It is understood and agreed by and between the City and Service Provider that 
if any customer maintains improper or inadequate Containers for the nature, volume, or weight of 
refuse to be removed from the premises, or if any customer improperly places debris or Bulky Items 
for collection, Service Provider may refrain from collecting all or a portion of such refuse and shall 
notify the City and the customer of the reason for such non-collection.  When the City is notified by 
a customer that refuse has not been removed from his or her premises on the scheduled collection 
day and where no notice of non-collection or a change in collection schedule has been received from 
Service Provider, the City may investigate.   

 
I. Dangerous Animals.  Employees of Service Provider shall not be required to expose 
themselves to the danger of vicious animals in order to accomplish refuse collection in any case where 
the owner or tenants have animals at large, but Service Provider shall immediately notify the City, in 
writing, of such condition and of Service Provider’s inability to make collection. 

 



J. Hazardous Weather.  Service Provider may cancel a portion or all of a scheduled service day 
due to hazardous weather conditions, and shall notify the City, in writing, of such cancellation. 
 

SECTION 20.  COMPLIANCE WITH APPLICABLE LAWS. 
 
The Service Provider shall comply with all applicable federal and state laws regarding the collection, 
hauling and disposal of Municipal Solid Waste, including existing and future laws that may be enacted, 
as well as any regulations reasonably passed by the City that are not in derogation of this Agreement.  
Nothing in this Agreement shall be construed in any manner to abridge the City's right to pass or 
enforce necessary police and health regulations for the reasonable protection of its inhabitants.  The 
City shall have the right to make reasonable inspections of the Service Provider in order to insure 
compliance with this Section 20. 
 
SECTION 21.  VEHICLES AND EQUIPMENT. 
 
Vehicles used by the Service Provider for the collection, hauling and disposal of Municipal Solid Waste 
shall be protected at all times while in transit to prevent the blowing or scattering of Municipal Solid 
Waste onto the City's public streets, or properties adjacent thereto, and such vehicles shall be clearly 
marked with the Service Provider's name in letters and numbers not less than two (2) inches in height.  
All collection vehicles used by the Service Provider shall be washed and deodorized as needed. 
 
SECTION 22.  DUE CARE. 
 
The Service Provider shall exercise due care and caution in providing the Services so that the City's 
public and private property, including streets and parking areas, will be protected and preserved. 
 
SECTION 23.  PERSONNEL AND PERFORMANCE STANDARDS. 
 
The Service Provider shall not deny employment to any person on the basis of race, creed or religion, 
and will ensure that all federal and state laws pertaining to salaries, wages and operating requirements 
are met or exceeded.  The Service Provider, its agents, servants and employees shall perform the 
Services in a courteous, competent and professional manner.  During the term of this Agreement and 
any extension thereof, the Service Provider shall be responsible for the actions of its agents, servants 
and employees while such agents, servants and employees are acting within the scope of their 
employment or agency. 
 
SECTION 24.  INSURANCE COVERAGE. 
 
Pursuant to this Agreement, the Service Provider shall carry the following types of insurance in an 
amount equal to or exceeding the limits specified below: 
 
 Coverage      Limits of Liability 

 
(1)  Worker’s Compensation    Statutory 
 
(2)  Employer's Liability    $2,000,000 
 
(3)  Bodily Injury Liability (except automobile)  $1,000,000 per occurrence; 

Deleted: 500,000

Deleted: 500,000



  $5,000,000 in the aggregate 
 
(4)  Property Damage Liability (except automobile) $500,000 per occurrence; 
       $2,000,000 in the aggregate 
 
(5)  Automobile Bodily Injury Liability   $1,000,000 per person; 
       $4,000,000 per occurrence 
 
(6)  Automobile Property Damage Liability  $500,000 per occurrence 
  

Upon the City's request, the Service Provider shall furnish the City with a certificate of insurance 
verifying the insurance coverage required by this Section 24. 
 
SECTION 25.  INDEMNITY. 
 
The Service Provider agrees to indemnify and hold harmless the City and its agents, directors, 
employees, officers and servants from and against any and all suits, actions, legal proceedings, claims, 
demands, damages, costs, liabilities, losses or expenses (including, but not limited to, reasonable 
attorneys' fees) arising out of Service Provider’s performance of the Services or caused by a willful or 
negligent act or omission of the Service Provider, its officers or employees.  However, the Service 
Provider shall not be liable for any legal proceedings, claims, demands, damages, costs, expenses and 
attorneys' fees to the extent caused by a willful or negligent act or omission of the City, its agents, 
directors, employees, officers and servants. 
 
SECTION 26.  SAVINGS PROVISION. 
 
In the event that any term or provision of this Agreement shall be determined by a court of competent 
jurisdiction to be invalid or unenforceable, this Agreement shall, to the extent reasonably possible, 
remain in force as to the balance of its terms and provisions as if such invalid term or provision were 
not a part hereof. 
 
SECTION 27.  TERMINATION. 
 
Any failure by the Service Provider or its successors and assigns to observe the terms and conditions 
of this Agreement shall, if continuing or persisting without remedy for more than thirty (30) days after 
the receipt of due written notice from the City (and signed by the City Secretary), constitute grounds 
for forfeiture and immediate termination of all the Service Provider's rights under this Agreement, 
and all such rights shall become null and void. 
 
SECTION 28.  FORCE MAJEURE. 
 
The performance of this Agreement may be suspended and the obligations hereunder excused in the 
event and during the period that such performance is prevented by a cause or causes beyond 
reasonable control of such party.  The performance of this Agreement will be suspended and the 
obligations hereunder excused only until the condition preventing performance is remedied.  Such 
conditions shall include, but not be limited to, acts of God, acts of war, accident, explosion, fire, flood, 
riot, sabotage, acts of terrorists, unusually severe weather, lack of adequate fuel, or judicial or 
governmental laws or regulations. 

Deleted: 1,000,000

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.51", Keep with next
Deleted: 500,000

Deleted: 500,000

Deleted: 1,000,000



 
SECTION 29.  GOVERNING LAW. 
 
This Agreement shall be governed in all respects, including as to validity, interpretation and effect, by 
the internal laws of the State of Texas, without giving effect to the conflict of laws rules thereof.   
 
SECTION 30.  MISCELLANEOUS. 
 
A. Multiple Originals.  This Agreement may be executed in multiple originals, each of which shall 
be deemed for all purposes to be an original, and all of which are identical. 
 
B. Notices.  Notices by either party to the other party shall be sufficient if sent by certified mail, 
postage paid, return receipt requested, addressed to the other party at the addresses designated below 
each party’s signature hereunder. 
 
C. Attorneys Fees.  The prevailing party in any suit, action or proceeding arising out of or 
involving the enforcement, interpretation or application of this Agreement shall be entitled to recover 
all reasonable attorneys’ fees incurred in connection with such action, suit or proceeding. 
 

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK] 



SECTION 31.  ACCEPTANCE. 
 
PASSED AND APPROVED BY THE CITY OF NEW FAIRVIEW, TEXAS CITY COUNCIL 
MEETING AT A TIME AND PLACE IN COMPLETE CONFORMITY WITH THE OPEN 
MEETING LAWS OF THE STATE OF TEXAS AND ALL OTHER APPLICABLE LAWS THIS 
____ DAY OF ________________________, 2021. 
 
 
FRONTIER TEXAS VENTURES I, LLC  CITY OF NEW FAIRVIEW, TEXAS  
       999 Illinois Lane 
       New Fairview, Texas  76078 
 
By:        By:        
Name:       Name:       
Title:       Title:  Mayor 
 

 ATTEST:  
 
By:        
Name:        
Title:         

Deleted: DECEMBER, 2016

Deleted: MIDWEST WASTE SERVICES

Deleted: 337 Morrow Road 

Formatted: Underline

Deleted: Springtown, Texas  76082

Formatted: Underline

Deleted:        Kent Durham, Vice President

Deleted:       

Formatted: Underline



 

 

 

Deleted: ATTACHMENT 1¶
¶
RATES¶
¶
Prices below are monthly base prices including the City’s ten percent 
(10%) franchise fee:¶
¶
Residential Services¶
¶

Formatted: Font: Calibri, 11 pt, Font color: Black

Formatted: Left

Formatted Table

Formatted: Font: Calibri, 11 pt, Font color: Black

Deleted: ¶

Formatted: Font: Calibri, 11 pt, Font color: Black

Deleted: $20.50

Formatted: Font: Calibri, 11 pt, Font color: Black

Formatted: Font: Calibri, 11 pt, Font color: Black

Formatted: Left

Formatted Table
Deleted: 2 carts¶

Formatted: Font: Calibri, 11 pt, Font color: Black

Deleted: $25.00

Formatted: Font: Calibri, 11 pt, Font color: Black

Deleted: ¶
Commercial Service¶
¶
2 yard dumpster serviced once per week¶ ...



Follow up discussion with staff regarding the City Council strategic planning retreat. 

The city council and staff conducted a strategic planning retreat to review the work product from 
the Texas Rural Leadership Program sessions, as well as the Citizen Satisfaction Survey. The 
goal of the retreat was to further refine the vision, mission, and values of the organization to 
better align decision making to programming and resource allocation.  

N/A 

Ben Nibarger, City Administrator 
 

 
Presentation at the Council eeting 



Discuss with staff ongoing pro ects, provide input and feedback, and generally get updates on the 
status of the pro ects. 

Below, you will find summaries of the ongoing pro ects that city hall is working on currently. 

 - staff and Franklin Legal are in the final steps of 
codification. Following the completion of the codification, staff will present the results to the 
Council for adoption. At this time, the code of ordinances will be hosted online and easily 
searchable by interested parties. 

 - the pro ect has been awarded and contracts completed. 
The timeline for starting the pro ect has been delayed by six to eight weeks due to the lack of 
concrete structures available for the drainage work. e anticipate that we will begin the pro ect 
in the second week of August. 

 - Paloma Ranch Estates has installed the water lines and is ready to start 
pulling building permits as well as filing their petition for annexation and zoning for the 
remaining portions of the residential development. Staff is working with the City of Fort orth 
to complete the release of the TJ to New Fairview. Fairview Meadows has begun construction 
of the second phase of their residential development and the city has begun negotiations with 
them to complete the strategic partnership agreement. Shoop Ranch is working to complete their 
surface use agreement with B  and clean up the blanket easements for pipeline and 
hydrocarbon production. 

- TPWD Parks grant for 1 0,000 has been approved. Staff is working with our 
engineer to complete the final submissions for funding of the pro ect. Staff received an update 
from Traylor  Associates for the CDBG grant and believes that we are likely to be approved 
for the grant. e will know by October 2021 but funding may not be made available until 



January 2022. Corona Virus Relief grant was ust made available to small Texas cities. e have 
completed all initial re uirements to ualify for the grant of approximately 0,000 which can 
be used for water, wastewater, and broadband infrastructure. 
 

 - the funding of the TxDOT feasibility study of F  07 from Bill Cook Lane to S  2 7 
has been postponed until September 2021.  
 

 - our consulting engineers are awaiting a response from the Public tility 
Commission. e are progressing our discussions with the City of Fort orth and pper Trinity. 
 

 - staff has been in discussion with hydrocarbon production 
firms regarding the implementation of inspections. The Council will be presented with a 
recommended fee schedule in the near future. 
 

 - the city attorney is working with the City of Fort orth to 
release their TJ in proximity to New Fairview.  
 

 -  staff has been working with the vendor to prepare mock-ups of the new 
site, outline the navigation, and flow of the site. Further, the vendor is preparing an estimate of 
cost for the development of an alert system that can be used for emergencies as well as general 
communication with residents.  
 

 - the Planning and oning Commission will be acting as the 
Capital Improvement Advisory Committee and provide public comment regarding the proposed 
transportation impact fee. Pacheco och will be presenting the proposed impact fee at the next 
regularly scheduled Planning and oning Commission meeting. 
 

 - Salvador has been leading this pro ect. e have been working with the 
implementation team, providing them with the necessary information, forms, work flows, etc., to 
set up the system. 
 

 - e have completed the set up of the file system as outlined by 
the State of Texas. Further, all current records are being digitized while we are working 
backwards on historical records.   
 

N/A 
 

Ben Nibarger, City Administrator 
 

 
Amendment 


